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FOREWORD

An emphasis on the Ulster (especially Presbyterian) dimension of the United
Irishmen, the publication of historical source material as a permanent contribution
to understanding 1798, a focus on the wider intellectual rather than the narrower
military aspect of the period, and a broadening of the commemorative impulse to
include women as well as men were among the aims of the Governments 1798
Commemoration Committee. Because this three-volume edition of the Drennan-
McTier correspondence admirably meets all these aims, my Committee was
enthusiastically supportive of this complex work undertaken by the Women’s
History Project.

This publication is a valuable addition to the literature of the 1790s, as well as an
example of the ground-breaking work in women’s history being produced by the
Women’s History Project. Here we have almost 1,500 letters over a forty-year
period, overwhelmingly between Martha McTier (1742-1837) and her brother, the
well-known United Irishman, William Drennan (1754-1820). These letters
between close siblings record an intensive intellectual partnership. They also offer a
chronicle of domesticity in Belfast, Edinburgh, Newry and Dublin. The Drennans
were at the core of the intellectual tradition of Belfast Presbyterians; their father was
minister of the New Light Congregation at Rosemary Street. As well as recording
their vibrant public lives, their letters cover in intimate detail their interior lives, not
excluding what William called the ‘still sorrows of domestic life’.

The text has been carefully edited, the modernised spelling generates a highly
contemporary feel, while the meticulous editorial work of Jean Agnew has rescued
from oblivion a high proportion of the three thousand individuals, many of them
women, mentioned in the letters, thereby creating an invaluable context.

I want to congratulate the editors for their dedication and professional competence,
Mr Michael Duffin, descendant of William Drennan, and the Deputy Keeper
of the Records, the Public Record Office of Northern Ireland, for permission to
publish the letters in full, the Women’s History Project and the Irish Manuscripts
Commission for publishing them. I warmly welcome its appearance as both a major
contribution to the Bicentenary of 1798 and a further expansion of our knowledge
of the role of women in that pivotal period.

Seamus Brennan T.D., Government Chief Whip, Minister of State and
Chairperson of the Government’s 1798 Commemoration Committee

September 1998
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INTRODUCTION

Martha McTier and William Drennan were children of the Rev. Thomas Drennan
and his wife Ann Lennox. Thomas Drennan, a Presbyterian minister, was born in
1696, and was minister of the First Belfast congregation in Rosemary Street from
1736 (as assistant to the Rev. Samuel Haliday) until his death in 1768. Little is
known of his background. He appears to have been the clever son of a poor family,
probably first generation emigrants to Ulster from Scotland. A number of poor rela-
tions are referred to from time to time in the letters, but when asked to supply
biographical data about their father’s origins, Martha and William were studiously
vague. By contrast, they took great pride in their mother’s connections. Ann
Lennox’s father was a prosperous Belfast merchant, and her mother, a Hamilton,
had gentry cousins. When Ann married in 1741, she was twenty-three years old and
Drennan forty-six, and the family story was that Drennan, regarded by his friends
as a confirmed bachelor, was co-opted by her friends to escort her to Dublin to visit
her cousins and proposed to her before the coach had reached Swords, on the out-
skirts of the city. The couple had eleven children, only three of whom, Martha
(1742-1837), Nancy (1745-1825), and William (1754—1820) survived infancy.

Before moving to Belfast, Thomas Drennan had taught at a private academy in
Dublin, as assistant to the Rev. Francis Hutcheson, a leading ‘New Light' Presbyterian
minister who later became professor of philosophy at Glasgow University. The New
Light controversy, which split the Presbyterian church in Ireland, began at Belfast at
the beginning of the century when a group of ministers, led by the Rev. John
Abernethy of Antrim, met to discuss the interpretation of biblical texts and to pool
their reading and study. Their belief that religious conviction must be based on
personal conviction, derived directly from a study of the scriptures, led to schism
after 1719 when the Rev. Samuel Haliday refused to subscribe to the Westminster
Confessions, the definitive statement of doctrine which had been obligatory for all
Irish Presbyterian clergy. The New Light or Nonsubscribing congregations, which
included the First Belfast congregation, thereafter formed the most intellectual and
radical wing of the Presbyterian church. Thomas Drennan was part of a group of
Presbyterian intellectuals which included Hutcheson and Abernethy, the Rev. Robert
Duchal, James Arbuckle, the poet, William Bruce and Gabriel Cornwall.

This New Light background was of great importance in the intellectual develop-
ment of both William and Martha, and they were profoundly influenced by their
father, whom they regarded almost with veneration. When in 1792, William Drennan
wrote an account of an unsuccessful attempt to win him over from radicalism to
write for the government cause, he stated

... I'said that I had early formed my principles in politics and that my father to
his last hour had desired me never to forsake them, and here, on recollecting
that best of men and thinking that I saw his meek and venerable form and
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face bending over me, with a placid and approving smile, I burst into tears
and remained for some time much affected.’

The influence of the Rev. Thomas Drennan was such that, at moments of crisis
in their lives, William and Martha never saw any kind of moral dilemma as to the
course they should pursue, and once set on any course which they believed accorded
with their father’s principles, they never saw any reason to abandon it. Not that their
veneration of their father made them blind to his faults. Although kindly and
benign, he was a melancholy man. He was permanently affected by the deaths in
infancy of most of his children. At a time when this was a regular occurrence in
most families, and when parents generally braced themselves to face it with as little
fuss and as much fortitude as they could muster, the Rev. Thomas Drennan allowed
himself to be swamped by grief in a way which was thought unnecessary and
unwise, and consequently became querulous and over-sensitive. So much so that
when Martha wrote to William in 1783 asking if he was in bad spirits, she added

If either they, or your health, depend on such things as hearing every week
from Belfast, God help you, you are no better fitted to go through this world
than your father was®

and in a letter of 1789 she wrote © ... the only thing in your father I wish you not
to imirate is his groaning away life’.’ There are also hints in the letters that the Rev.
Thomas Drennan was not good at managing money. His wife brought a respectable
marriage portion, and Martha’s recollections of her girlhood suggest that they had
lived in affluence, possibly beyond their means. For after Drennan’s death, his
widow lived very modestly, and her circumstances seem to have been straitened,
although she received an income from land and a small pension as the widow of a
Presbyterian minister. Ann Drennan’s character was a complete contrast to that of
her husband. She was lively, quarrelsome and excitable, sharp tongued and over
emphatic. William resembled his father, with a leaven of his mother’s common sense
and resilience; he was by nature reserved, and thus appeared cold and unsociable.
Martha inherited her mother’s personality, but tempered by her father’s intelligence.
She and her mother were frequently at loggerheads, being too alike ever to live in
harmony. Their sister Nancy’s character was, and has remained impenetrable.
William summed her up as ‘silent affection’.

William received his early education in classics from his father, and later attended
the Rev. Matthew Garnet’s school in Belfast. Nothing is known of the education of
his sisters, but since Martha knew a little Latin it may be assumed that the girls had
some lessons from their father. When Drennan died in 1768, William was nearly
twelve. In the following year he was sent to the University of Glasgow, which was

1 1 December 1792, D/591/353; all Drennan—McTier letters quoted in this introduction have been given their

PRONI reference number in the series D/591; these are listed at the end of volume 3, with their page number
within these volumes.

2 {1783] (D/591/63).
3 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1789] (D/591/246C).
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attended by many middle-class boys from
Beifast, and he matriculated at the age
of fifteen. Having decided that he

wished to study medicine he

enrolled at the University of
Edinburgh in 1773. In the
same year, Martha, who was
then thirty, married Samuel
McTier, a Belfast chandler,
who was a widower of about
thirty-five, with an eleven
year old daughter.

The surviving letters begin in
1776, and were initially written
between Martha in Belfast and
William in Edinburgh. Martha,
who enjoyed letter writing in spite of
her protestations to the contrary, was
deputed to write on behalf of her mother and
sister, with the result that William addressed most of his letters to her. Although she
frequently urged him to write to their mother, who dearly loved to receive a letter,
these occasional letters never developed into a proper correspondence. Mrs Drennan
seldom answered them, and William preferred to write to the one member of the
family who could be counted on to reply to his letters, to share his enthusiasms and
to discuss his problems. This correspondence became a central part of their lives.

Although addressed to Martha, William’s letters were intended to be read by the
whole family. In the eighteenth century, letters were normally perused in private by
the recipient, but then read aloud, in whole or in part, to the entire family, their
guests and visitors, and were occasionally lent to friends or read at other people’s
houses. The Drennan-McTier letters contain much personal news and local gossip,
butalso extensive comment on literature, politics and events of the day, and it is clear
that they were written to entertain and amuse, with this wider audience in mind.

In 1778 William qualified as a doctor and returned to Belfast where he set up
in practice. This was not a great success as Belfast was already well supplied with
doctors, the most outstanding of whom was Dr Alexander Haliday, son of the Rev.
Samuel Haliday. Dr Haliday was a man of letters, a whig, a reformer, and probably
the most important influence on William himself, after his father. He was also the
friend and correspondent of Lord Charlemont, commander in chief of the
Volunteers. Volunteer companies had been formed in 1778 to defend the country
against threatened invasion by the French, but inspired by the American War of
Independence, they elected delegates to Volunteer conventions and pressed for
political reform. Because William and Martha were both in Belfast few letters have

Martha McTier as a child
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survived for this period, but William’s letters to his friend, the Rev. William Bruce,’
show him to have been enthusiastically involved in the Volunteer movement which,
having secured the legislative independence of the Irish parliament in 1782, con-
tinued to agitate for further political and administrative reform.

At the end of 1782, Dr James Moody, one of the two doctors in Newry, a town
about forty miles to the south of Belfast, settled in Dublin, and William immediately
moved to Newry, hoping to succeed to his practice. Six months later he nearly died
of a fever akin to typhus. Martha and Nancy were in Bristol, taking the waters, so
William was nursed by Sam McTier who had rushed down to Newry with Mrs
Drennan. His recovery was slow, but once recovered he made progress in establishing
himself in Newry. In spite of the hostility of Dr John Templeton, the other Newry
physician, who had expected to take over Moody’s patients, there was clearly enough
business for two. William gradually became financially secure, but he found Newry
society provincial and boring, and he was obliged to play down his support for the
cause of reform for fear of antagonising potential patients. He was able, however, to
work off some of his frustration by writing.

William had written poetry from boyhood, and since his return from Edinburgh
he had turned to politics. He wrote two minor political pamphlets, and his elegant
prose was much in demand for Volunteer addresses. In 1783 he turned his hand to
election squibs and wrote letters to the freeholders of County Down, supporting the
reform candidate, Robert Stewart, the future Marquis of Londonderry. He published
these anonymously, but thirsted for an opportunity to make a name for himself
as a writer. By the end of 1784, much of the fire had gone out of the Volunteer
movement, and in an effort to re-kindle the Volunteers’ zeal for reform, he wrote
the Letters of an Irish helot, addressing his countrymen as ‘Fellow-Slaves’ and urging
them to elect delegates to the Volunteer convention in Dublin. He was quickly
discovered to be the author and for the first time became a celebrity. Early in 1785
he went to Dublin as.one of Belfast’s representatives at the convention but nothing
was achieved and the Volunteers were divided among themselves. In an attempt to
widen the base of the movement for reform, the Volunteers, initially a middle-class
Protestant body, were forming Roman Catholic corps and petitioning for some
measure of Catholic emancipation. Many of the original supporters, including
Charlemont himself, drew back, but William became convinced that emancipation
was a moral imperative, as he could not demand political rights for himself which
he would deny to others. He never subsequently swerved from this viewpoint
although it caused a rift between himself and his former Volunteer associates such
as William Bruce and Joseph Pollock. By the end of 1785 it was clear that the
Volunteers were a spent force politically and that William’s literary fame had come
too late for him to take a leading role in their affairs.

In 1785 he had also proposed marriage and been rejected. It was largely at Martha’s
prompting that he had become attached to Margaret Jones, daughter of a wealthy
Belfast merchant. But although Martha would never have suggested that he should

4 The Rev. William Bruce was at this date a minister in Dublin; for Drennan’s letters to Bruce, see D/553
(PRONI).
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pursue a penniless girl, the Drennans were not fortune hunters, and it was Margaret’s
intelligence and lively mind that made her appear a suitable match. William
admired Margaret, but he was not in love, and after his removal to Newry he had

XV

few opportunities for courtship. In the summer of 1785, Margaret fell seriously ill

with a fever, and on her recovery, William finally proposed in one of his least
inspired pieces of prose and received a cool refusal. Margaret never married. When
William, years later, enquired after her, her cousin William Todd Jones replied ‘you
are totally mistaken as to that venerable maiden’s politics, for she is neither for
church or state established, but a very decent cut of a bloody female rebel...”” —
so in fact they may have been better suited than either supposed. William spent a
further four years at Newry. These were years of isolation, boredom and frustration,
though financially successful. Conversely, they were some of the happiest years of
Marthas life.

Martha’s marriage was extremely happy. Sam adored his wife and was proud of her
intellectual gifts. Both were no doubt disappointed that Martha had no children,
but she channelled much of her energy into ambition and solicitude for her gifted
younger brother. So much so that Sam was, for a time, jealous, and in 1783, after
nursing William at Newry, he wrote:

Never, my own Matty, had my affection for you a fairer trial than since I came
here and I find it as strong as ever. Oh my Matty how I do love you. I love Will
too, but sometimes you have hurt me by showing too evident a partiality for
him. I would not have anyone rival me in your affection, not even Will.*

In character, Sam was kind, good-natured, honest and reliable. Unlike William,
he was a popular convivial man. He could buy a horse, choose wine, and he enjoyed
a good election riot. However he appears to have had limited business acumen, and
in about 1781 he became bankrupt, through a combination of bad luck and poor
judgment. The McTiers went to live with Mrs Drennan and Nancy, neither of
whom liked Sam, and who lost no opportunity to point out his shortcomings to
Martha. Martha’s health suffered; she developed headaches, palpitations, and bowel
and stomach upsets, and in 1782 she and William visited Scotland to consult a lead-
ing physician, who diagnosed her symptoms as largely nervous. Humiliated by her
poverty and distressed by her mother and sister’s perpetual pre-occupation with her

health, she continued to suffer intermittently. In December 1784 William wrote to
William Bruce,

My dearest sister is I believe still in the old way and when I visit her, which
I intend to do with trembling hope, I shall tell you. Her husband is still office
hunting. If T survive her ... I shall have her letters to me, written without care
of composition, published for distributing among the few I love for they are

true pictures of a fine woman, and they well illuscrate the still sorrows of
' domestic life.”

5 W. T. Jones to William Drennan, 1 January 1816 (PRONI, D/456/34).
6 Sam McTier to Martha McTier, 20 June 1783 (D/591/86).
7 William Drennan to William Bruce, December 1784 (D/553/35).
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The McTiers had spent the previous six months living cheaply in the country,
renting a small house near Belfast, and they had enjoyed life there so much that they
had determined to build a ‘cabin’ of their own. William was enthusiastic in support
of the scheme:

I like your cabin scheme much — I think with your taste you could make it
an elegant retirement and with your company an enviable retreat from the
bustle of the world about you. I have always had a fanciful poetical idea of a
cabin in its situation and peculiar ornaments which I never saw realised. It
would be your delight and rational amusement. I earnestly wish you would
look round for one that would admit of such cheap improvement as might
easily be procured and then your proud competence would come into play.”

Helped by a loan of £50 from William, Sam bought a small farm just outside Belfast
which they christened Cabin Hill, and set about building a ‘cabin’ or farmhouse.
They moved there in 1786 and lived happily there for the next three years. Sam was
appointed Ballast Master to the new Harbour Commission in Belfast in 1785, and
soon after set up as a notary public, and their financial position improved. He did
most of his work in Belfast, and Martha remained at Cabin Hill, reading, being
visited by friends, and discovering the joys of gardening. Her happiness was only
marred by her frustrated ambitions for William, and her anxiety about Nancy who,
normally silent and abstracted, was clearly going through some kind of emotional
crisis which she and William could only watch with helpless bafflement.

However it was Martha herself who suffered a breakdown. In the summer of 1789
her regular letters to William ceased abruptly and did not resume until 1792,
although she was apparently functioning fairly normally much of the time. Her own
account of her illness is unsatisfactory and only mentions panic attacks about
money. William described it as a ‘distressing depression of spirits’” and it is likely
that her childlessness and the onset of the menopause were contributing factors.
Whatever the causes, she subjected herself to an appalling regime of confinement
and frequent bloodletting, but emerged triumphant, and although subjected to far
worse stresses in the 1790s, she never had a recurrence.

At the end of 1789 Dr James Moody had died and William had promptly moved
to Dublin, once more hoping to succeed to his practice. It was a move he had been
considering for some time, and although it was a financial gamble, he had consid-
erable savings and could afford to supplement his professional earnings for several
years if necessary. He moved into lodgings in Dame Street, minutes away from
Parliament House, where he attended debates, and soon found himself swept into
middle-class radical circles. His friendship with Thomas Addis Emmet started
through professional contact with Emmet’s father, a leading physician, and his
literary reputation ensured him a place in a group of men who were committed to
reform. Some years previously, he had written to William Bruce, propounding

8 William Drennan to Martha McTier, [1784] (D/591/152).
9 William Drennan to William Bruce, [1789] (D/553/67).
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a scheme for a ‘brotherhood’, dedicated to work for political reform, operating
within a quasi-masonic framework, and bound by an oath.” In the summer of 1791
he sent a paper to Sam McTier outlining a scheme for such a brotherhood to be set
up among the Volunteers, and this was widely circulated. In October, Wolfe Tone
visited Belfast; he and Thomas Russell met the Volunteer leaders, who included
Sam, and the Society of United Irishmen was set up in Belfast, a similar club being
founded in Dublin a few weeks later.

There followed for William a period of intense activity and excitement as he plunged
into the work of writing proposals and addresses, advocating complete and immediate
emancipation for the Roman Catholics, reforms in parliamentary representation and,
eventually, universal male suffrage. After years of isolation in Newry he was in the
mainstream of politics, surrounded by radical reformers who were fired, as he was, by
the events of the French Revolution. Nevertheless he was not a revolutionary, but
believed that reform would be achieved through the means of another Volunteer con-
vention, this time with nation-wide support stimulated by United Irish propaganda.

Martha, who had resumed their correspondence in February 1792, stung into
action by criticism of the United Irishmen’s oath by William Bruce (a former favourite
whom she never forgave), shared William’s political convictions and enthusiasm for
reform but on reading his Address to the Volunteers written in December 1792, she
immediately prophesied trouble. The Address called on the ‘Citizen-Soldiers’ to take
up their arms and demand reform, in language which could be construed as seditious.
How far William intended to threaten is debatable. It is clear that he did not see the
armed Volunteers as any kind of a threat to national security, and he wrote to Sam
McTier in 1794 “The fact is that if the paper had had its proper effect, there would
have been an armed nation at this day, and peace without a dread of commotion’."

The government however, alarmed at the combination of militant Catholics and
radical Presbyterians, launched a counter-offensive, aimed at both the United
Irishmen and the Volunteers. Following the execution of Louis XVI, Britain went
to war with France in February 1793, and many of those who had admired the
French revolution (including Martha McTier) revised their opinions after the
execution of Queen Marie Antoinette later in the year. Moreover, since the Roman
Catholic church was persecuted in France, the revolution won far less admiration
among the Irish Catholics, and by offering a measure of Catholic emancipation, the
government was able to satisfy the demands of the more moderate Catholics.
William had believed that government would not be able to withstand a nation-
wide demand for reform transmitted by the Volunteers, but after the failure of the
last Dungannon convention, undermined by the government’s concessions to the
Catholics, the Volunteers were no longer a political force. There followed a series of
prosecutions and repressive legislation which were greeted with outrage and gather-
ing gloom by both Martha and William, but the latter was for a time distracted

‘ from politics — he had fallen in love.

10 William Drennan to William Bruce, 1784-85 (D/553/20,43,45)
11 William Drennan to Sam McTier, 16 February 1794 (D/591/470)
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Sarah Swanwick was a young Englishwoman who visited her married sisters in
Dublin for six weeks in the summer of 1793. When she returned home William
wrote to her, and they became engaged. His feelings for Sarah were, for him, so
novel and so delightful that he could not bear to share them, and he baldly
informed Martha that he was engaged and did not need a confidant, and gave her
only the barest information about his future wife. Martha, thrown off balance and
cheated of derails to discuss, replied by welcoming his engagement in general terms
but disapproving of his short acquaintance with the lady and, to some extent, of her
Dublin connections, who included her &éte noire, Mirs William Bruce. Moreover she
was clearly hurt by his reticence and took refuge in sarcasm. Having got off on the
wrong foot, neither William nor Martha was able to discuss the matter usefully. At
length, knowing that he was not earning enough to support a wife, and believing
that no assistance would be forthcoming from either his relations or Saral’s,
William released her from their engagement.

Not only was his financial position insecure, as his savings were rapidly con-
sumed, but in 1794, his friend Archibald Hamilton Rowan was imprisoned for
distributing the Address to the Volunteers and William was aware that it was only a
matter of time before he himself would be prosecuted. Hearing that John Pollock,
the attorney who had tried to buy William’s pen for the government in 1792, was
attempting to manufacture evidence against him, Martha wrote to him defending
her brother and threatening to make public all the underhand methods he was
employing. She found she had crossed swords with a superior swordsman as Pollock
replied in a letter which is a masterpiece of elegance and sarcasm."” Although aware
she was outclassed, Martha knew that she was in the right, and besides she was
enjoying herself hugely. She wrote an excellent riposte and Pollock, sensing that he
was never going to get the last word, wisely let matters rest; but though diverted by
the letters, he continued to put together a case for prosecution. In June 1794,
William was put on trial for sedition.

William knew that he had very little chance of acquittal but he faced his ordeal
with courage. However, he was tried for publishing the Address to the Volunteers
rather than writing it, and his counsel, John Philpot Curran, was able to break down
the main prosecution witness. Since it could not be proved that he had been respon-
sible for the text as published, the jury rather unwillingly acquitted him, and
William subsequently acknowledged that his trial had been fair. Anticipating a less
favourable outcome, he had composed an appeal to the jury which sought to show
that he was not a Jacobin, attempting to stir up a French-style revolution, but was
the intellectual heir, through his father, of a tradition of Presbyterian radicalism."

By 1795 however, it was clear that the opportunity for peaceful constitutional
reform had passed. The United Irish Society had been suppressed in 1794, and

when it re-formed it was no longer a society which advertised its meetings and

12 John Pollock to Martha McTier, 10 March 1794 (D/591/482A).

13 Drennan’s proposed defence is printed in John Francis Larkin (ed.), 7he trial of William Drennan (Dublin,
1991).
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published its proceedings, but a revolutionary force. William was not cut out to be
a conspirator. He had considered withdrawing from the society long before his trial,
but had remained a member because his political ideals remained unchanged and
because he feared he would look like a coward and a deserter. He was aware, how-
ever, that his radicalism was hurting him professionally — he specialised in obstetrics,
and few women wished to employ an accoucheur who was likely to be arrested at
any time. He knew that he had been amazingly lucky to escape imprisonment, and
that he remained a marked man. The re-organisation of the Society allowed him
to withdraw painlessly, being as he put it, ‘civilly shrugged out’, while retaining the
status of a martyr in the cause.

Throughout his years of political involvement, William worked closely with Sam
and Martha. Through Sam, Martha was informed of the deliberations of the inner-
most circle of the Belfast United Irishmen, her horizons expanded, she visited Dublin
for some weeks in 1793, where she enjoyed William’s celebrity status, and her new
house in Belfast became a centre of United Irish activity. One regular visitor was the
United Irishman Thomas Russell, whom she came to regard as another brother. As
© Sam’s expanding business as a notary public frequently swamped him with paper-
work, Martha was often deputed to write to William on United Irish affairs. Sam
claimed that his election as president was because the Belfast Society was hoping to
get William to write their addresses. There was some truth in this, but Sam had
considerable status of his own, and a sufficiently forceful personality to control
meetings of the strong-minded Belfast patriots. In the event, William was generally
too busy to write much for Belfast but would send down a few paragraphs, or even
notes, telling Sam or Martha to work it up for themselves. Gradually it becomes
clear through her letters, that Martha was sometimes engaged in writing or editing
small pieces for publication, and she began to acquire a certain literary reputation,
helped probably by the circulation of her letters to John Pollock among some of his
associates. She appears never to have published anything in her own name, possibly
because it might have embarrassed Sam. In spite of her growing anxiety for William’s
safety, the United Irish years were, for Martha, a period of activity and contentment.
This came to an end with Sam’s death in 1795 at the age of fifty-seven.

There are indications that Sam’s health had been causing concern for the previous
year, but in May 1795 the McTiers set out on a jaunt to Scotland with the
Drennans’ cousin Hamilton Young. Young, who had been a successful merchant in
New York, had returned to Belfast in 1792, and on finding his own family reduced
to one unmarried sister, had indicated that he regarded his Aunt Drennan’s children
as the ultimate heirs to his fortune. Unluckily, he was subject to recurring bouts of
insanity, and lapsed into one of these before he had brought himself to the point of
making a will. Thereafter, Martha and Sam, with a mixture of good nature and self
interest, helped his sister to find suitable attendants and occasionally took Young on
jaunts around the countryside, when he sometimes became more rational. The fact
that they took Young with them to Scotland shows that Sam’s complaints were not
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considered life-threatening, but he was suddenly taken acutely ill near Inveraray.
Martha managed to convey him one stage nearer reliable medical assistance, but he
then became too ill to be moved and they were immured in a rural inn for the week
it took him to die, while the summer weather dissolved into lashing rain, and
Young, distressed and confused, responded to the crisis by attempting to escape
through a window.

Arriving back in Belfast in June with her husband’s body, Martha discovered she
was in a fresh nightmare. Sam had not made a will; and instead of the life interest
in his property which she expected, she found that she was only entitled to income
from a third, and that her period of comparative affluence was at an end. Nor was
help forthcoming from her closest relatives. William had litdle savings left, their
mother’s only suggestion was that Martha should live with herself and Nancy, and
Sam’s brother Dr John Mattear was more concerned to protect the interests of
Margaret McTier, Sam’s daughter by his first marriage. Margaret proposed that they
should live together, and Martha agreed, having first fought her brother-in-law for
her rights in her house, the lease of which was in her name, so that Margaret should
be her tenant, rather than that she should be Margaret’s. It was an arrangement that
worked well enough as Margaret was as good humoured as her father, though rather
more stolid. Martha accepted a small annuity from Hamilton Young’s sister, and in
the following year she was able to augment her income by providing a home for
Grace Gordon, an orphaned young woman of good family, to whom she acted as
companion and chaperone.

William’s inability to help her financially demonstrates his lack of success in his
profession in Dublin. In Newry he had specialised as an accoucheur; in Dublin he
found that this was regarded as a separate and inferior field of medicine, sometimes
undertaken by surgeons, and he experienced great difficulty in building up a
general practice. Under-employed professionally, and finding that his acquittal had
done little to dispel his notoriety, he became an increasingly isolated and embittered
figure. He now confined his literary activities to poetry and the occasional political
pamphlet. Both he and Martha were distressed by the worsening political situation
as outrages committed by the increasingly active United Irishmen and Roman
Catholic Defenders were matched by brutal repression by government troops.

In 1797, William Orr, a young Presbyterian farmer, was tried for administering
the oath of the United Irishmen to a soldier. Although some of the evidence appears
to have been suspect, and his counsel, John Philpot Curran, did his utmost to secure
a reprieve, Orr was hanged at Carrickfergus. This was seen by many as little more
than judicial murder, and William wrote “The Wake of William Orr’ which was
enormously influential among the United Irishmen, and the last line of which, “The
day is come — arise — arise’, reads like a call to rebellion.

Nevercheless, William was well aware that any involvement on his part with the
United Irishmen would be suicidal and, as far as he could, he avoided the company
and possible confidences of those whom he knew to be their leaders. Martha too
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was careful to curb her tongue in public — although she listened hard and retailed
everything she knew to William. In their letters they frequently assured each other
of their ignorance and lack of information. It must be remembered that those of
their letters which they sent by post (others being carried by ‘private hands’) were
frequently opened and read by government agents working in the post office, so
much so that Martha often added to hers a rude message to the Belfast postmaster,
whom she detested. It is in one of these letters, in answer to a hint by William that
she was suspected of writing for the United Irishmen’s newspaper, the Northern Star,
that she denied categorically writing for any newspapers. It is probable, however,
that their ignorance was almost as complete as they claimed.

By the spring of 1798, most of William’s friends were in prison and he compared
himself to a solitary ninepin left standing when all around him had fallen. He was
courageous enough to go to England to give evidence in favour of the United
Irishman Arthur O’Connor who was standing trial in Kent; and soon after his return
the rebellion broke out, and many of his former associates were arrested and hanged.

Among those arrested in the north was Joe Crombie, son of the Rev. James
Crombie, a Presbyterian minister at Belfast, with whose family the McTiers and the
Drennans were close friends. Martha wrote on his behalf to General Nugent, and as
Crombie escaped, or was allowed to escape, Martha subsequently believed that her
intervention had saved his life. The episode however brought her renewed grief. At
the end of 1797, Martha had confided to William,

I confess to you that there is one man I would yet connect myself with, nor
blush even now to do it, because he loved me thirty yearsvago, never |
believed ceased to do so, cannot even now disguise it. Yet to quiet all your
fears for the imprudent, or rather autumnal connection, rest assured he never
will ask me, and that this confession of mine never did nor shall be made to
a being but yourself."

From other hints it is apparent that this man was Rainey Maxwell, a local County
Down landowner, who lived near Cabin Hill. Although originally a reformer, and
friend of the Volunteers, Maxwell had become increasingly conservative in the
1790s, and in 1798 he wrote to Joe Crombie’s uncle, blaming his revolutionary
principles on the family’s intimacy with Sam and Martha, the latter being ‘well-
known as a violent republican’, and this letter was by chance read aloud in company.
Martha was deeply hurt. She and Maxwell continued as civil acquaintances, but she
had lost a special friend whom she had valued.

Martha spent several months with William in Dublin in the summer of 1798,
their first lengthy period together since 1793. She became increasingly worried
about his melancholy and reserve. He made no secret of his loneliness and wish to
marry, writing that he would gladly be a United Irishman in the conjugal sense.
Early in 1798 he had had a flirtation with a young widow, but on his broaching the

14 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1797] (D/591/685A).
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subject of marriage, he was informed that he had misinterpreted civility for kind-
ness, and that the widow had no wish to remarry. While Martha was in Dublin that
summer, William discussed with her a plan of borrowing money from their mother
to buy a house, and although she first pointed out all the drawbacks, she then sup-
ported the plan, perhaps hoping that this would be a diversion after the horrors of
the rebellion. At the end of the year William bought a house in Marlborough Street,
north of the river, which was more convenient than Dame Street for most of his
clientele. Having lived in lodgings for fifteen years, he enjoyed the novelty of house-
keeping and, for the first time, his letters revel in domestic details. He appears to
have believed that Martha would move in with him, but she declined positively to
leave Belfast. :

In the spring of 1799, Martha discussed at length William’s broken engagement
to Sarah Swanwick, and explained that if their letters had been less encouraging
than he expected this was largely his own fault in refusing to discuss the matter, and
that none of them had ever been opposed to the engagement. In his reply William
said, quite simply, that he wished to renew the affair, but did not know how to do
it. Martha then made guarded enquiries of a cousin of Sarah’s who was in Belfast,
and plans were discussed for getting Sarah to visit one of her sisters in Dublin.
When this proved unworkable, Martha went to Dublin and at her prompting, in
early August, William wrote first to Sarah’s parents and then to Sarah herself. Finally
in-September, urged by Martha, he went to Cheshire to see Sarah. At their first -
meeting they discovered that their feelings for each other were unchanged, and they
became immediately engaged.

From his marriage in February 1800, William’s life entered a happier phase. Sarah,
then aged twenty-nine, came from an English dissenting family of liberal views,
and was intelligent and well educated, having previously been a teacher at a board-
ing school run by her parents. Calm and good tempered, she was socially more
adept than William; her only flaw seems to have been that she had no experience in
housekeeping, but even the most economical housekeeper would have found: it
impossible to make William’s income meet the demands of married life. He had
gradually built up his practice among a circle of mainly Presbyterian families with
Ulster. connections, but had never.succeeded in earning more than an average of
£200 per annum, which was less than he had earned in Newry. He attributed his
small practice to his political notoriety but the truth was rather thar although a good
doctor, with advanced views on hygiene and the prevention of infection, he lacked
the easy social manner necessary for success. Disliking what he called the ‘servility’
of his profession, he found it difficult to ingratiate himself with potential clients.

Immediately after their marriage, he and Sarah were obliged to entertain most of
their circle to repay ten years of hospitality while he was a bachelor, but even after
this initial phase was over, the Drennans found it impossible to live within their
income, and their expenses rose constantly due to the rapid increase in their family.
In the first nine years of marriage they produced eight children, and even before the
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birth of the first they were in debt. Martha responded as well as she could, reassuring
Sarah, whom she regarded with warm approval, that no-one expected her to perform
miracles on £200 a year, and although unable to help them financially herself, she
encouraged her mother to lend them money from the modest sum which William
would eventually inherit, and managed to find them a succession of rich parlour
boarders. She recognised however that the only long-term solution to their problem
was that the Drennans should inherit their cousin Hamilton Young’s fortune.

Hamilton Young had died in 1799, without recovering his wits. In addition to the
fortune which he had made in America, he had owned three quarters of a property
called Cottown, near Donaghadee in County Down, the remaining quarter being
owned by Mrs Ann Drennan, and being her main source of income. Cottown had
been purchased in 1672 by John Hamilton, a Belfast merchant, and descended to
his daughter Martha Lennox who was Ann Drennan’s mother. Ann Drennan’s elder
sister Elizabeth married Alexander Young in 1726 and received half of the property
as her dowry, the other half being intended for Ann. Unfortunately, their mother
died without making a settlement on Ann, who was then eleven, and because she
was intestate the remaining part of her property was by law divided equally between
her daughters, leaving Elizabeth with three quarters of Cottown and Ann with only
one quarter. As Elizabeth and her merchant husband did not feel morally obliged
to restore Ann’s dowry to her, relations between the sisters became cool, and the two
families had little to do with each other. It says much for Mrs Drennan’s character
that her children were not brought up on a recital of her wrongs, and it took Martha
some time to piece the story together.

After Hamilton Young’s death, intestate, his only surviving sister Martha (also
named for her grandmother Martha Lennox) inherited the estate, after ﬁghting a
claim by some distant cousins who had a will of sorts which Young had made in
America during a manic phase in the 1770s. Martha Young was a benign and
sensible woman; coming from a merchant background she had a good grasp of busi-
ness matters, but years of living with her mother (a less pleasant version of Mrs
Drennan), and latterly with her insane brother, had made her depressed, nervous
and indecisive. On inheriting her brother’s fortune she made presents of money to
many of her. relatives, including William Drennan, and she purchased the lease of
Martha and Sam’s old home, Cabin Hill, and moved there with another cousin
in hopes of inducing Martha to join them. Martha was unwilling to give up her
independence in Belfast, but was equally unwilling to offend her cousin, who spoke
frequently of making William her heir, but resisted all hints that she should make
her will. Consequently Martha divided her time between Cabin Hill and Belfast,
" where her mother, now in her mid-eighties, was in declining health. In 1803, her
rather unsatisfactory situation was revolutionised by the arrival of William’s eldest
son Tom, a child of two, on a visit to Belfast.

Tom Drennan was a confident, affectionate and sweet natured child who immedi-
ately won the hearts of his grandmother and aunts. Not only they but their entire
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circle adored him, and he soon led a complicated social life as different families
begged to be allowed to entertain him. Martha took him out to Cabin Hill to enjoy
fresh air and strawberries and inevitably his elderly cousins Martha Young and Ann
Jane Bigger joined the ranks of his admirers. The visit was intended to be for the
summer only and William had booked his seat in the coach to collect him, when
rebellion, led by Robert Emmet and Thomas Russell, suddenly broke out. William
had over the years produced a number of political pamphlets on reform topics, and
had written a protest against the union between England and Ireland in 1800. He
was still regarded with suspicion by the Dublin government and did not wish to call
attention to himself by choosing to travel to the north in the period of disturbance.
Although the rebellion was swiftly suppressed, the season was then so far advanced
that it was agreed that it would be better for Tom to remain in Belfast for the winter.

For Martha, Tom’s presence was a welcome diversion from her sorrow at the
execution of Thomas Russell. She had always been fond of Russell, a man of con-
siderable charm, and had sympathised with his hopeless passion for Bess Goddard,
the daughter of one of her oldest friends. In 1794, she had attempted to get a
pension for him from the Catholic leaders, and she had written to him in prison at
Fort George. In Dublin too, William grieved over the fate of Robert Emmet, the
brother of his friend Thomas Addis Emmet, who had emigrated to America, and
whose sister had married his friend, the barrister Robert Holmes. Neither Martha
nor William however had the least sympathy with the rebellion; they were as dedi-
cated as ever to the cause of reform and the reversal of the union, but only if it could
be achieved by constitutional means.

In the following summer, when Tom might have returned to his parents, Sarah
was pregnant with her fourth child, his next brother William was ill, a daughter had
died, and Drennan was worried over money and pre-occupied with his own bad
health. Having had a weak chest since boyhood, he now suffered from endless colds
and was haunted by a fear that he might be consumptive. Both his mother and Miss
Young had become devoted to Tom, and resisted any idea that he should leave.
Moreover William recognised that Martha’s attendance on Miss Young, who was
becoming increasingly deaf and feeble, was almost entirely for his own benefit, and
that without Tom it might be unbearable. Without any outright decision being
taken, Tom, who was full of health and spirits in the north, was allowed to remain
there and it was not until April 1805 that Martha took the child back to Dublin. By
this time she had become a mother to Tom, sensible, practical and unfussy, enjoy-
ing his company and writing of his exploits with delight, and William assured her

.. if Thomas’s return will in any degree be necessary to your happiness in
your present situation we shall assent to his return, and make the sacrifice
great as it is, to you, who have taken all opportunities to add to our com-
fort and happiness since we have been married."”

15 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 25 February 1805 (D/591/1160).



INTRODUCTION

Martha stayed in Dublin for almost three months while Sarah visited her family
in England. She then returned to Belfast taking little William with her. Tom was
desolate. He missed Martha, he missed the freedom of Cabin Hill, his parents were
almost strangers to him, and his younger brother, who might perhaps have recon-
ciled him to life in Dublin, had taken his place in Belfast. By the autumn, his
parents accepted the fact that he was not going to settle, and William brought him
back to Belfast.

Once there, William realised that his mother, who would be Miss Young’s next
heir if she died intestate, was sinking, and that Miss Young herself was becoming
increasingly crippled by rheumatism and would be soon unable to sign her will. On
his return he wrote Martha a careful letter pointing out all the disagreeable circum-
stances that would arise if Miss Young died intestate and Martha, as was intended,
read it to Miss Young, who finally consented to make her will. Mrs Drennan died
in 1806, leaving William her share of Cottown. In fact, as Martha had pointed out
to William, there seems to have been no reason why he should not have inherited
it at his father’s death, as it was not secured to his mother’s use by any marriage
settlement. It seems that the combination of William’s youth when his father died,
and his mother’s forceful personality, had allowed her to resume possession of her
dowry without being challenged. Her income from land amounted to £120 per
annum, and when Martha Young died in May 1807, William inherited the other
three quarters of Cottown and was henceforward financially independent. Martha
inherited Miss Young’s lease of Cabin Hill.

Having for years insisted that he disliked Belfast and that nothing would induce
him to settle there, William, perhaps surprisingly, moved there within a few months
of Miss Young’s death. In fact there were a number of excellent reasons for his deci-
sion. Post-union Dublin no longer had the excitement and style of the 1790s; his
circle of friends and patients was contracting; one of Sarah’s sisters had moved to
England and they were on bad terms with the other; his stay in Belfast settling Miss
Youngs affairs immediately after her death had been very sociable, with dinners
with old friends and acquaintances; and he wished to see more of Martha and
Nancy, and to reunite Tom with his brothers.

Having moved back to Belfast he lived an enjoyable life, in moderate affluence.
He published his poetry and other writings, started a literary magazine and was one
of the founders of the Belfast Academical Institution. In 1812, tragedy struck, and
Tom died shortly before his eleventh birthday. His other four surviving children
lived to old age and had distinguished careers. William himself died in 1820, Nancy
in 1825, and Martha in 1837 at the age of 95.

The correspondence of Martha and William lasted for over forty years. At times it was,
for each of them, a lifeline. In one of his earliest letters to Sarah, William described
Martha as ‘my oldest, my once dearest, my ever to be respected correspondent,
my best adviser in every difficulty, in every real or supposed misfortune my best
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consoler, and first friend’.' Throughout his life he could count on Martha to look
at all his problems squarely, to identify every possible solution, to discuss them all
thoroughly, and to advise him at every turn. As part of the package however, he also
had to accept a fair amount of unsolicited advice because Martha appears never to
have believed that her younger brother was capable of acting correctly without
prompting, and in fairness it must be pointed out that William occasionally acted
quite crassly.”” Sometimes he suggested that it was about time that Martha ceased
handing out advice to a man in his forties, but she was unstoppable. Although her
letters were generally dedicated to ‘soothing, raising, praising and pleasing’, when she
thought that William was indulging in too much self pity they could be as bracing
as a bucket of cold water:

I hate croakers, and above all affected ones, and if the picture you draw of
your own mind be just, you have had better fortune than you deserve. You
panted for fame, you got it — you were read, praised, admired, prosecuted,
cleared, and abused, what would you have more? Could you suppose that
in this career you would not make enemies ...?"

She ended this letter ‘By this time possibly you feel angry, but I have not given
advice, have no news, and cannot always write soothing letters and never get one.’
Certainly William seldom reciprocated by discussing Martha’s problems, in fact he
showed a marked lack of interest in her battles with her brother-in-law and her ten-
ants, but his letters were a lifeline to her because they entertained and stimulated her.
He discussed politics and literature with her as an intellectual equal and brought her
into contact with the wider world in a way that none of her Belfast circle could do.

Although Martha had a wide circle of acquaintances, she disliked many of them, and
she had few close friends. She was very attached to her sister Nancy and respected
her judgment, asking her advice and even following it occasionally, but Nancy was
both reclusive and eccentric, and at no stage in her life could she have been described
as companionable. Through Martha’s childlessness and her literary interests, a gulf
gradually opened between her and her married contemporaries. She remained a
close friend of Eliza Goddard, Rainey Maxwell’s cousin, until her death in 1786, but
came actually to dislike the sisters Elizabeth Crombie and Mary McCormick, who
had been her friends in the 1770s and who were both married to Presbyterian
ministers, saying of the former, ‘she is become a mere blathering sneaking gossip
and to me tiresome in the highest degree’,” and of the latter, ‘her mind is soured,
and narrowed by what she terms religion out of all rationality, and is a complete
slave to ... fusty doctrines in religion and politics.”™

Her closest friends were single women: Fanny Mussenden and her sisters were
well read and intelligent, and Jenny Greg, who was suspected, probably with good

16 William Drennan to Sarah Swanwick, 26 September 1793 (PRONI, T/2884/4).
17 See for example D/591/572.

18 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1795] (D/591/591).
19 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 6 June [1799] (D/591/779)
20 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 29 July [1800] (D/591/861).
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reason, of being a United Irishwoman, was sophisticated and sharp-witted. Bur
these were women of means who spent most of their time in Dublin or Bath, and
Martha had few friends in Belfast. As long as Sam was alive her life was stimulating
and rewarding, but after his death she lost her place in the world of men and, untit
Tom’s arrival in Belfast, much of the interest went out of her life.

Over the years, she and William had quarrels; she was too quick to believe the
worst of him, and her letters could be wounding. On the whole William bore up well
under her bracing criticism and strongly worded advice, but occasionally, goaded
beyond endurance, he would deliver the ultimate put-down by telling her that she
was beginning to sound just like their mother. Both could appear quite unlikeable.
At his worst, William was morose, sentimental, bigoted, self-centred and self-pitying;
but he was also affectionate, honest and courageous. Martha could be censorious,
intrusive, and quite gratuitously and outrageously rude, but she was brave, resilient,
resourceful and loving. She was also loveable: when she wrote to William on the eve
of his probable conviction for sedition, she managed to end on a buoyant note
saying ‘A periodical paper from Newgate would be a new thing, and open to all sub-
jects and well executed, would be interesting. I am not advising’;"' and on hearing
from Sam that William had been acquitted, she related how she had rushed around
the town all evening telling their friends, then admitted that, feeling too excited to
sleep, she had sent out for two pennyworth of porter and got ‘completely stupefied’.”

For over forty years the brother and sister discussed, advised, consoled, amused,
entertained, and bickered. The measure of the importance of this correspondence
to both of them is that it has survived virtually intact.

Jean Agnew

\

21 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 28 June 1794 (D/591/510).
22 Martha McTier to Sam McTier, 5 July 1794 (D/591/513).
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MARTHA MCcTIER AND WILLIAM DRENNAN:
A ‘DOMESTIC’ HISTORY™

The richness and variety evident in the correspondence of William Drennan and
Martha McTier offers the historian almost limitless possibilities. Through these
letters William and Martha provide us with direct accounts of their life experiences,
their domestic, social and political preoccupations. It is difficult in a short intro-
duction to do justice to the life that is evident in this correspondence. Many
historians will use these letters as a way of illuminating the politics of the last
decades of the eighteenth and the first decades of the nineteenth centuries. This is an
immensely significant factor in their historical importance. The correspondence pro-
vides insights into the impact of the American and French revolutions on political
thought. It illuminates the rise of Irish radicalism, opens a window on both the
constitutional and revolutionary ideas that were being developed in the period,
highlights the politics of repression and disaffection and the enduring survival of
liberalism in Irish political thought. However, in this introduction I want to make
some attempt to show how the letters might be used to deepen our understanding
of Irish society generally in this period. We can use these letters to explore the world
of domesticity, to investigate the intimacy of marriage and personal relationships, to
observe the impact and importance of reading on a woman’s life, to witness the
development of political views. We can investigate attitudes to servants, to health,
to the profession of medicine. We can assess contemporary views on childbirth and
children. Both Martha and William inhabited particular worlds defined by their
gender. Martha lived her life as a daughter, sister, friend, wife, sister-in-law, adoring
aunt and widow. William lived as a son, brother, professional man, friend, brother-
in-law, radical writer, husband and father. The limitations placed on Martha’s life
experiences resulted from her sex. She lacked access to a sustained, formal education,
and hence the privilege of a profession and influence in the public world of politics.
But her life was no less full or fulfilling for those limitations.

Martha’s and William’s letters were a forum for the exchange of political ideas,
family news, gossip, advice, information and emotions. The domestic world of
home and family relationships formed the bedrock on which both Martha and
William faced the world. The boundaries between the public and private worlds
were not as marked in the eighteenth century as they were to become in the nine-
teenth century. The ‘private’ world of domesticity was still under construction. The
concept of domesticity has come to be defined in terms of managing households
and raising children, the ‘domestic space’ being the arena of such activity. In
Martha’s and William’s world domestic space was filled with servants, children and
visitors, and it was a space that had to be managed by men and women. Both
Martha and William, singly and when married, were profoundly part of the world

* Twould like to thank Dr Jean Agnew, Dr Virginia Crossman and Dr Mary O’Dowd for their comments on an
carlier draft of this introduction.
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of domesticity. They managed servants and household budgets, ordered furniture,
and entertained. They created both a public and private space in their dwellings.
The opportunity to create a personal domestic space came most often to women
through marriage. It is difficult for historians of this period to find information that
sheds light on the intimacies of marriage. The marriages of Sam and Martha, and
William and Sarah, appear to have been emotionally, intellectually and physically
satisfying. Sam’s longing to be with Martha is evident in a teasing phrase from a
letter he wrote to her from Newry in 1783. Martha was visiting Bristol at the time.
Sam noted ‘After this [letter] you must expect only half a sheet from me, I wish we
were this moment under a whole one’.!

In congratulating William on his engagement in 1793 Sam wrote of the value of
a good marriage:

The comfort of having in a wife a second self to share in every pleasure and
every pain is very great and much more than balances any rubs that occur in
the matrimonial state, and were I to advise any bachelor, it should be to
marry as soon as he could a woman whose mind he admired even more than
her person.”

William was anxious to secure a wife. While living in Newry he believed that an
income of £250 a year and a ‘pleasurable wife or even companion’ and a seat in
parliament were his hearc’s desires.” However, Martha disapproved of his apparent
frivolity and encouraged William to seek a wife for her personal qualities rather than
her fortune, or the immediate gratification of his desires.

For women and men, love, companionship or attraction were not always the
motivations for marriage. Marriages of all types are referred to throughout the cor-
respondence. Writing to William in December 1777, Martha told of a recent
marriage in Belfast which ‘caused much surprise and diversion — a young lady who
has lived all her life in Belfast and of one of the best families in it, but without
fortune, to an old brute of the same place, rich you may believe and above eighty,
a town house, country house and carriage, and a number of angry disappointed rela-
tions’.* The best kind of wife to have, as evidenced in the correspondence, was a
‘sensible’ one. This implied a wife who would be ‘prudent’ in her expenses, and who
would support the endeavours of her husband, and care for him and their children.’

There were relationships that brought extreme sorrow in the death of a spouse.
William related the story of Dr King who was ‘an ingenious, literary, melancholy
man who is still talking of his wife — his wife — though she has been dead these two

1 Sam McTier to Martha McTier, 20 June [17]83 (D/591/86); all Drennan-McTier letters quoted in this intro-
duction have been given their PRONI reference number in the series D/591; these are listed at the end of

volume 3, with their page number within these volumes.

Quoted in William Drennan to Sarah Swanwick, 10 October 1793 (PRONI, T/2884/5).

William Drennan to Martha McTier, [1785] (D/591/125).

Martha McTier to William Drennan, 8 December 1777 (D/591/16).

Martha wrote to William in 1792 about ‘our stubborn friend Bruce [who] is a hen-pecked ninny and called so

to his face by an ignorant unfeeling shrew of a wife who is hurting him in his Academy and the opinion of the
world, poor fellow’. [1792] (D/591/321C).
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years. Every object associates her to it in his imagination, and his mind is tinged in
so deep a dye that time will have much ado to get it out, except by dipping it in the
matrimonial colour a second time’.® There were men and women who fought, who
were violent to each other, vindictive in life and even in death. Daniel Marsden, for
instance, died immensely rich but, according to Martha, had ‘fixed a blot on
his wife, not undeservedly, by leaving her not a penny beyond her settlement of a
hundred a year and £2000 a piece to each of her daughters ..."." There was also the
case of a Mrs Atkinson who had run away to marry a doctor but was ‘taken mad’
on her wedding night." The adulterous Mrs Fitzgerald had been confined by her
husband to a private asylum for the insane, not because she was mad but so that he
could keep her out of sight.” There were affairs, divorce and even murder. Martha
was to write to William informing him that an acquaintance had murdered his wife,
for which she ironically observed, ‘there is never any punishment in Belfast’."” There
was also of course a deal of fortune hunting, and money often made up for what
appeared to be physical or even intellectual deficiencies. Lennox Bigger’s wife was
considered by Martha a ‘fright, ugly and vulgér’, and older than her husband.
However she believed that ‘money perhaps makes up for this’." One would imag-
ine that few fortune hunters went to the lengths of Bartholomew Macnaghten,
whom Martha declared had ‘affected being a fool for years, afterwards feigned fits
to kill his first wife by whom he got a pretty fortune. He really succeeded in this,
got a second or rather I believe a third with whom he also got some fortune, and
had no more fits. He was a gambler, a man of sense and a knave’.”

That sympathy was given to a hard done by wife is obvious from other cases
observed by Martha. Her caustic wit is evident in her portrayal of the widowed Mrs
Hyde, whom Martha acknowledged as having been badly treated by her husband.
Mrs Hyde was clearly making the most of any sympathy offered. ‘

Mrs Hyde also adopts the same form since her return (not home), for in such
a country she will only stay to dispose of her house in town and Cabin Hill,
weep in the meeting house, and be affected at the first meeting of each
acquaintance who knew she was married to a disgusting tyrant, that to the
very last acted as such and left her as little as he could, though certainly in
the character of a wife she was for above thirty years perfection. By her father
and sister chiefly she has £800 a year, and freedom from a brute, so that I
think at a convenient time, her spirits will recover.”

Bad marriages were as COmmon an occurrence as good marriages. Financial consider-
ations were a major priority for many individuals who sought to marry, particularly

6 William Drennan to Martha McTier, [1785] (D/591/171).
7 Martha McTier to Sam McTier, 29 April 1793 (D/591/418).
8 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 1785 (D/591/148).
9 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1789] (D/591/265).
10 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1783] (D/591/69).
11 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1794 (D/591/527). See also, A.P°W. Malcolmson, The pursuit of an
heiress: aristocratic marriage in Ireland, 1750-1820 (Antim, 1982).
12 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1798] (D/591/705).
13 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1799] (D/591/861).
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for women, who required some form of financial security. It was money that decided
independence, and independent choice, but it did not guarantee happiness.

The quality of domestic life was primarily dependent on one’s spouse but house-
hold servants also played asignificant role within the domestic sphere and influenced
the domestic environment. We know little about the relationships that existed
between employers and their servants in eighteenth century Ireland." A variety of
servants make their appearance in this correspondence. There were servants who
were engaged to work in the home and those who attended to individuals, such as
William. There were also children’s maids and wetnurses. Overall, servants are
generally represented as unreliable. William had considerable difficulty acquiring a
reliable and honest manservant: not only were they inclined to drink, but a number
left him, at times taking some of his property with them. These were common com-
plaints about servants.” Writing to Martha in 1787 William noted ‘T have not yet
gotten a servant, and shall not fix until I get a good one I believe it will be hard to
find one even in Belfast’.'" The mobility of servants is quite clear in these letters. We
find servants from Belfast, for example, willing to travel to work with a master or
mistress in Dublin. Martha sought to procure a suitable nursemaid from Belfast for
William and Sarah’s children who resided in Dublin. William and Sarah had asked
Martha to be on the lookout for such a nursemaid. Martha was to inform the pair
in 1801 that ‘T have not been prevented inquiring about a fit person with whom to
entrust your expected blessing. The woman I thought of has many material recom-
mendations but not all. ... Yours, all alive to your interest, suggested getting Mrs
Blatt’s] servant, who appeared to my mother agreeable. I shall inquire’.”

Letters could play an important function in the hiring of servants. Acquiring
servants also meant securing recommendations. These provided an insight into the
‘character’ of the individual involved; they often outlined the nature and extent
of their work, and also in certain cases reasons for dismissal. A request for a recom-
mendation involved an inherent trust in the former employer and also presumed
honesty on the part of that employer. In 1801 Martha informed Sarah of her efforts
to secure testimonials for a servant. Sobriety and honesty were the features most often
required of servants. The following reference was provided for a proposed nursemaid:

Elizabeth Misscomel” lived with me as children’s maid for one year and a
half, which time she behaved herself soberly and honestly. She is very well

tempered, and can work and wash very well. She is now discharged my service
having no occasion for one in her place.

The nursemaid alluded to above had also been in the employment of Mr and Mrs
Rainey of Greenville. In attempting to find out all she could of the young woman

14 See Marie-Louise Legg (ed.), The Synge letters: bishop Edward Synge 1o his daughter Alicia, Roscommon to
Dublin, 1746-1752 (Dublin, 1996), for a contemporary account of dealings with servants.

15 For atticudes towards servants in England ar chis time see, Amanda Vickery, The gentlemans daughter:
womens lives in Georgian England (London, 1998), passim.

16 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 1787 (D/591/210).

17 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1801 (D/591/895).

18 A variant spelling of Miscambell.
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Martha requested a reference from them. The story told by Mr Rainey did not
augur well. Rainey had informed Martha that he had discovered a young man and
three of his female servants drinking punch. He had thrown the man out of the
house but later discovered that he was a brother to Elizabeth, or Betty, his servant.

Mrs Rainey also provided Martha with a reference for Betty and informed her
that the woman had been in her employment for only two months and hence she
could ‘not be a very good judge of her character’, though she found her ‘very cleanly
and I have heard, and believe, she is good tempered, but whether steady enough to
undertake the care of a young child I do not know. Having introduced her brother
into the house for nearly two days nights in being found sitting in the garret with
liquor before them was the cause of my parting with her. As far as I know of her, I
think if T wanted a person to take care of a child of a year old, I would hire her’.
Further references were sought and these also proved forthright:

I am really afraid to recommend her for the place you mention. It requires a
person of experience and steadiness much more than a wet nurse and here she
had not the charge of an infant, so that I cannot be any judge of her capabil-
ity in that way, and you may tell her that I think for her own sake she had
better remain in her present station or attend children more grown up.”

Martha provided all of this information for Sarah and William and requested them
to make a decision. It seems that William and Sarah took on Betty, but she proved
to be a difficult servant. She also had a bad effect on another servant in the house-
hold, Eliza. Eliza was a former servant of Marthas whom she had sent to Dublin to
get her away from her mother’s bad influence. Sarah wrote and told Martha of her
trials with Betty and Martha responded by expressing little surprise at her behaviour.
Martha acknowledged that she had disliked Betty’s manner and appearance in
Belfast. She declared that that while in Belfast Betty

tried to appear the fine lady, and carried it rather far, when she allowed her
dear Tom to be carried to the playhouse by a dirty drunken trollop, who I
never allowed to take him out, at the playhouse to let him sit on this girl’s lap
while she sat conversing with some man, and refusing to take home the child
when he was frightened and cried for it, and contrary to my sister’s express
orders, and even since I came here MissY[oung] says these two women were
in drink wherever they got it.”

Betty was clearly not to be trusted. Martha finished her letter to Sarah by suggest-
ing that ‘a married woman will not be tempted to transgress in the same ways'.
Eliza, the other female servant in the household, was later to inform Martha that
Sarah was ‘not so sweet as she thought’ and that she preferred her master to her
mistress, a potential cause of disharmony in any household. Eliza wished to go

19 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 31 January 1801 postmark (D/591/899).
20 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 20 September 1804 postmark (D/591/1130).
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‘vagabondizing’ but Martha considered her future perilous. She regretted sending
Eliza to Dublin and hoped that Sarah had acquired a better servant who would
‘prize [her place] more justly’.” Eliza’s end appears not to have been as unfortunate
as had been predicted. While she may have taken to ‘vagabondizing’ William was to
inform Martha in 1804 that Eliza had married a sailor at Whitehaven who was the
father of three or four children.”

Not all servants were unsatisfactory, and when in Dublin William recorded his
pleasure at the success of the servants he had acquired. The characteristics of a
successful servant were always sobriety and industriousness. It is evident from
William’s comments that male servants also looked after children, an occupation
not generally associated with them.

We continue to like all our servants, and our manservant is a very sober,
regular, and civil man, ready to oblige all in the house, and a good nurse
when Betty is washing.”

Servants could also bring considerable shame to a household. Writing to William in
1804 Martha recounted the story of the calamity that had befallen Major Wallace’s
family. Wallace’s fifteen-year old daughter had become pregnant by a servant of the
household. Wallace himself had a bad reputation and was believed to have seduced
his own wife before their marriage. Martha believed Wallace had to take much of

the blame for what had happened to his daughter. She noted that

The affair has been as public as possible, the boy ran off, all the other girls
dispersed, the unhappy father left with the fallen one alone — locked up
and just at her time. He has much to reproach himself with, for not taking
the advice of friends who proposed sending the two youngest to school and
having a proper female with the elder. Instead of which he kept them in the
country where they were frequently for a fortnight without him and with
common servants, and when he was at home exhibited them at improper
hours to officers etc., when he and his company were drunk. That he should
not have been more fearful is very odd. I am told he means to send the girl
to an English asylum, but what he will do with the rest God knows, for even
a set of ridiculous females objected to two of them going to the Fergusons.
Here however the two youngest were fixed before the affair was public. They

are all dashy bold girls ...*

While servants could cause disruption and upheaval in households, the serenity of
the domestic space often brought deep satisfaction to Martha and William.
Preparing for a visit from William, which did not occur because of the outbreak of
the 1803 rising, Martha’s pleasure in domesticity is evident:

21 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 31 October [1800] (D/591/1013).

22 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 12 April 1804 (D/591/1097).

23 William Drennan to Mrs Ann Drennan, 26 October 1801 (D/591/945).

24 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 5 February 1805 postmark (D/591/1156).



MARTHA MCTIER AND WILLIAM DRENNAN: A ‘DOMESTIC’ HISTORY

My rose beds were trimmed, and flower pots dressed, and (if possible) it
should have been without green, for even the vulgarest of flowers (the orange
lily) does not now raise such disagreeable ideas. My mother had on her best
cap, the chicken pie was baked, and the herrings potted, when we were all
disappointed, though not vexed, by your much wiser determination not to
leave home at present, which was generally here thought odd and Miss
Y[oung] appeared so uneasy that I was really relieved by your not coming.”"

Similar pleasure is evident in William’s efforts to furnish his new dwelling in Dublin
in 1799. In a letter to his mother he details his expenditure on furniture and prides
himself on how he manages his new home.”

Martha’s desire for personal autonomy after the death of Sam is seen in her worry
over finance and in her need to live independently from other members of her
family. Sam’s failure to make a will left Martha in a vulnerable financial position.
Like many women of her class, and even of those above it, Martha’s independence
was precarious as long as her income was not secure. However, once she was finan-
cially stable she engaged in those social and philanthropic pursuits typical of a
woman of her period. She was a guest at balls and parties. She attended the theatre,
travelled and visited the homes of others. Her one great pleasure, like many women
of the period, seems to have been cards. She reprimanded William for assuming she
was reckless at cards:

Will says I would be hurt to hear it said I played more cards and at a higher
rate than suited my circumstances. ... The story is like most others, partly
true, partly false. I play cards not more frequently than all others. I have not
now the resources I once had. My husband, my brother, my fields, my eyes,
my every male friend are gone. Cards seek me, I pursue them not and while
I stuck to sixpenny whist I was night after night pushed into a corner from
which there was no escape, with a particular set of silly scolding virulent
chiming old women. I determined to escape this bondage. I play casino
unless I get to a gentleman’s set where I play shillings and half crown on the
rubber. It interests me. I am politely treated, not stunned with talk, play as
well as any of them, and when I lose too much will quit it.”

Martha also undertook some charity work. By the late eighteenth century women
had begun to play a very active role in charitable enterprises.” Such work was most
often directed at the needs of poor women and children and Martha became
involved in the managing committee of a charity for lying-in women. The Humane
Female Society for the Relief of Lying-in Women first petitioned for rooms to be
granted them at the Belfast poor house. They were unsuccessful despite the fact that

25 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 2 August 1803 postmark (D/591/1047).

26 William Drennan to Mrs Drennan, 3 January [17]99 (D/591/740).

27 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 19 November 1800 (D/591/885).

28 See Rosemary Raughter, “Women’s philanthropy in eighteenth-century Dublin: the female orphan house and
the house of refuge’, in Thomas Bartlett (ed.), History and environment (Dublin, 1998), pp 82-93.
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Sam McTier and his brother Dr Mattear, were on the poor house committee. The
committee then rented a house in Donegall Street with room for six lying-in women
and a hospital was eventually built in 1830.” A number of titled women acted as
patrons to the charity and at least one, Lady Harriet Skeffington, sat on the commit-
tee. One of the most important initial steps that had to be taken by any charity was
to secure the backing of influential individuals, in this case ladies, in the town. This
would guarantee the respectability of the charity and also secure subscriptions and
funding. To this end Martha asked William to draw up a petition and also to advise
them on their project. William was not entirely enthusiastic and generally opposed
‘all hospital institutions’, and he believed that lying-in establishments allowed for
the spread of infections.”” He was not above promoting his own profession and
observed that the money might be better spent on ‘a fund dedicated for feeing pro-
fessional attendance on the poor at their own houses and dispensing relief where it
is really wanting’.” William also offered some practical advice and suggested that
the hospital be kept clean and as hygienic as possible.

Martha resigned from her role as secretary to the charity in December 1794. Her
letter to William, describing her last meeting reveals with great wit the politics and
personal animosities that had developed amongst the committee members. ‘Her
ladyship’, she wrote referring to Lady Harriet Skeffington, ‘met her faithful com-
mons with a most elegant, affecting, and sensible speech from the chair containing
a lictle history of our society, the difficulties it had to encounter, the ardour of its
active members, thanks to all ...".” Two major issues remained unresolved by the
committee, one was whether or not to allow women of ‘lost reputation’ to benefit
from the charity, a problem faced by all charities that dealt with poorer women. The
second issue was the ‘envy of those midwives not employed’, by the committee. This
latter problem was expected to be resolved eventually by employing in turn, only
those midwives recommended by a physician. The issue of allowing unmarried
women to join the committee of the charity was a serious point of division amongst
the committee. Those who supported their cause were, Martha noted, deemed
‘democrats’. The political language of the period had found its way into the charity’s
committee room.

It is clear from the correspondence that medical men, such as William, who
worked as obstetricians, were routinely present at births in the better-off families in
both rural and urban areas. In 1793 Sam had asked William why he had chosen this
branch of medicine to work in and he responded that he believed it was the only
way he could ensure that he would make a living from medicine. William also
observed that it was an impossible job for any man to like.”

The domestic setting could offer comfort and safety and in Martha’s case indepen-
dence; it also provided the opportunity for reading. Reading was a particularly

29 R.W. M. Strain, Belfast and its Charitable Society (Oxford, 1965), pp 163-5.
30 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 24 December 1793 (D/591/458).

31 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 28 December [17]93 (D/591/459).
32 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 28 December 1794 (D/591/535).

33 William Drennan to Sam McTier, 1 September [17]93 (D/591/439).
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important part of Martha and William’s lives. Their letters provided them with a
means of exchanging literary ideas, comment and criticism. While Martha’s educa-
tion might have been limited and informal there is no doubt that she was a learned
woman. Reading formed the intellectual linchpin of Martha’s communications with
William. Her reading was wide ranging and included religious literature, history,
biography, and travel books. She read novels, conduct books, poetry and political
tracts, as well as radical newspapers and pamphlets. She could also read a little Latin
and read many classical texts in translation. Her reading served a number of func-
tions. It fed her intellectual needs, allowed her to develop and explore political ideas,
and to share her thoughts with William. Martha also liked intellectual company. In
1784 she complained to William about her social life which she was finding tedious
because it consisted of an

eternal round of cards, the same game, the same company, the same prattle
without either fancy or inclination for anything new — I once thought our
women were better than common but I recant, any of them that were so are
either gone or carried away by the little fashion of the little place, where you
may be for months in what is called our best company without hearing a
book named, an opinion stated, or a sentiment introduced, which could give
rise to a conversation interesting to anyone above a chambermaid.*

Through their letters Martha and William explored the world of literature. They
expounded their ideas and discussed the characters that filled the pages of their read-
ing. They recommended books to each other, and exchanged volumes and opinions
about what they read. Martha’s reading was similar in range and scope to that of
William. When he seemed in a particularly sentimental mood she recommended the
French poet Prosper Jolyot de Crébillon, and the novel La Princesse de Cleves, by the
French author by Marie-Madeleine, Comtesse de La Fayette, first published in
1678.” In 1786 William and Martha discussed their reading of the novel, Caroline
of Lichfield, by a Swiss author. William claimed it provided an ‘exact delineation of a
pure female mind’.* Martha loved the novel and believed it was the only one she
knew which could be put into the hands of a young girl. She declared that neither
the work of Henry Fielding nor Samuel Richardson was delicate enough for a young
mind being as they were ‘all intrigue’ and full of rakes.” Reading was also an activity
that could engage all members of the family. Books, like letters, were often read
aloud. Martha complained in 1804 that all the books selected for reading aloud had
to be completed, often to her annoyance. Her comment on this tradition also reveals
her dubious opinion of the novel Belmont Castle, co-written by Wolfe Tone:

Sarah says we have been reading some good novels. I am sure it would be a
grateful prescription here, where I am determined no uncharactered one shall

34 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1784 (D/591/110).
35 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1784 (D/591/126).

36 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 1786 (D/591/159); this novel was first published in 1786.
37 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1786 (D/591/160).
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ever again enter — for once begun, let it be even the very vilest of trash, Miss
Young will have it finished, or it is matter of serious complaint. The last was
one called Margaret of Stafford with Madame De Stael’s name to it, which,
with anecdotes of the revolution tempted me to bring out — Alas! five
volumes. It beggars all description and I sometimes thought it might have
been in imitation of Belmont Castle. One might wander over such nonsense
to themselves, but to read them out and throughout is a task not to be
endured — and to a deaf woman.”

Thomas James Mathias published the Pursuits of literature in 1794 and in it he
satirised many contemporary radical authors. William had suggested to Martha,
much to her indignation, that she would not understand this work. Her reflections
on this book reveal much about her attitude to revolution. She consistently opposed
violence and believed that the practice of virtue without seeking public acclaim was
a good means of developing the character of future leaders.

You set me against reading the Pursuits of literature when T was last in Dublin,
saying I would not understand it, and this opinion of yours I quoted to the
Bishop and others as my excuse. I am ashamed of having done so. There is
not a note there I do not apprehend at the very first reading if it is in English
— few will do so in the page of your late writings. What is more, I admire and
esteem the author, as a wise sincere man, disinterestedly warm in the cause of
religion, virtue and public happiness. Of his learning, etc., I am not a judge.
He has been abused I believe as an aristocrat, but we have experienced much
truth in his predictions, and though he could not shake my principles, he has
confirmed me in much I began to suspect, the result of which is that there is
not a sufficient stock of virtue to set up on any new firm, and that there is
no country less fitted for it at present. Surely if all religion and order must be
subverted for an experiment of what can only be a doubtful improvement at
a bloody cost, it would be a wise moderation to hope from time and
circumstances rather than wrest the occasion, and for every real patriot to
practise for a time those virtuous independent principles in a private station
which, harder to practise as they daily occur without attending fame, would
educate them for more brilliant efforts and render them deserving and fit to

be trusted with Liberty.”

A favoured author was Maria Edgeworth. William considered her to be the best of
the novelists and observed that even with just two of her novels, Castle Rackrent and
Belinda, her reputation was assured.”” Martha was keenly interested in Edgeworth’s

38 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1 April [1804] (D/591/1094).

39 Martha McTier to William Drennan, ?9 November postmark [1800] (D/591/880).

40 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 11 November 1801 (D/591/947); see also William Drennan to Martha
McTier, 27 February 1807 postmark (D/591/1310) where he notes, ‘Miss Hamilton, without half the genius
of Hannah More, has wisely and profitably studied the best way of recommending herself to the higher orders,

who in their panic became mightily religious. I think Miss Edgeworth by far our first female writer since Mrs
Barbauld’s retirement’.
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educational works. This may have resulted from her involvement in philanthropy
and was also certainly determined by the presence of her nephew, Tom, in her
home. Martha encouraged Sarah to read the work of Elizabeth Hamilton, a Belfast
woman, on education and also Edgeworth’s Moral tales, which appeared in 1801."
She noted to Sarah that ‘In one of Tom’s little books (I believe Miss Edgeworth’s)
she mentions a sort of useful toy which must be very gratifying to that natural incli-
nation of children for building houses — little bricks. I wish I could get them with
dissected door frames, windows, etc. If these were each marked with their particular
name, and even some little models of the different orders of architecture, it would
most easily produce in play a useful and genteel knowledge’.*”

Martha also read the work of Edward Gibbon, but much preferred the writings
of the French natural philosopher Jacques-Henri Bernardin de Saint Pierre. While
Gibbon made little impact on her, Saint Pierre enchanted her. His articulation of
the evidence of divine providence in the order and harmony of nature particularly
appealed to her. She wrote to William ‘for in the language of the heart or nature I
think myself an adept and have long been doubtful of every other, indeed I do not
understand them and believe the half of your system makers are just in the same
situation’.”” The works of philosophers were also popular. Martha was familiar with
the writings of the English dissenters Dr Richard Price and Joseph Priestley; she dis-
cussed the work of the French philosophes Montesquieu, Voltaire and Rousseau, the
statesman Edmund Burke, and the philosopher David Hume.* She told William in
1789 that she was reading some sermons of the theologian Dr Joseph White which
she found ‘... very elegant or rather sublime, convincing, and entertaining. They are
White’s on Mahometanism. You no doubt saw an account of them which more than
mine would induce you to read them. They are not in the least dry nor bigoted,
though the author is a Trinitarian’.” Martha also enjoyed plays and informed
William in 1803 that she had read the dramatist William Congreve’s bawdy play, “The
Way of the World’, to her elderly cousins, and found ‘it went down excellently’.*
1793 saw her reading James Boswell’s The life of Samuel Johnson which she found
very agreeable. ‘It is’, she wrote, ‘quite charming flattery to read his weaknesses’.”
Martha was also familiar with the work of Anna Maria Falconbridge, an abolitionist
who was associated with William Wilberforce. In 1802 Martha read Falconbridge’s
account of the colonisation of Sierra Leone and was horrified by it.” Martha’s read-
ing was fairly typical of that engaged in by intellectual women of the period.” It is
through letters like these that we can discover in great detail the intellectual lives of

41 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 28 September 1802 (D/591/1007).

42 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, [1807] (D/591/1302).

43 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 30 March postmark 1801 (D/591/909).

44 Martha McTier to William Drennan, April 1777 (D/591/7).

45 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1789 (D/591/268).
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Irish women of this period. Women, like Martha, clearly reflected on what they had
read, were critically aware of their own opinions and where they agreed with or
opposed those of the writers they read.

One of the more extensive commentaries conducted within the correspondence
relates to works of contemporary political thought, particularly those of the French
philosopher Jean Jacques Rousseau, and the political philosophers William Godwin

“and Mary Wollstonecraft. William was more taken with the writings of Rousseau
than Martha. He informed Martha that he had been reading Rousseau’s Confessions,
posthumously published in the 1780s. William thought it unsuitable for women to
read ‘none but men or very learned ladies ought to read. It is an unique and I believe
the first confessions of the heart that were ever written but the style of the original
must be delightful. He was quite mad when he wrote it but his heart was as sound
as ever and a wonderful display of the heart it is. The work is certainly immodest
but not terribly so. You had not better however enquire for it at first hand’.”

William’s reaction to a second reading of the Confessions sees him identifying with
Rousseau.

I was exceedingly céptivated with several parts in the original on a second
perusal. Perhaps it was because at first I read it in the translation, but I think
the chief reason was an idea that shot into my head, that I found some resem-
blance to myselfin the portrait — in the reserve of countenance — the awkward
timidity — the short-sightedness — the voice (Edgeworth told me the first
moment he saw me, you have the voice of Rousseau) — really frank and open,
apparently sullen and shut up, mild, knowing, sincere, easily temptable, social
yet solitary, without address, art, dissimulation, prudence, hating vulgarity,
loving the vulgar, gentle in manner, yet a stern republican, flexible in every
other thing — his spirit tuned to a flat key, yet much latent enthusiasm —

fonder of the fair than he appears, and hurt in his pride for being taken for
what he appears.... "

Rousseau was popular among women intellectuals of this period. In his pedagogical
novel Emile published in 1762, he argued for a significant role for women within
the family. His political theories did not exclude women but ultimately Rousseau’s
female characters were destined only to achieve a passive state of virtue. They were
essentially subordinate to men with no independent personal or political aspirations.
Perhaps it was for this reason that Martha was less enamoured of Rousseau’s writings
than William. She thought little of Rousseau’s major popular success, his novel,
Julie, ou la Novelle Heloise, published in 1761.”

Like a number of Irish women of the period Martha was familiar with the writings
of Mary Wollstonecraft. By the early 1790s Wollstonecraft was the author of two
famous works: A vindication of the rights of men, published in 1790 in response

50 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 1784 (D/591/123).
51 William Drennan to Martha McTier, 14 October [17]94 (D/591/530).
52 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1784 (D/591/126).



MARTHA MCTIER AND WILLIAM DRENNAN: A ‘DOMESTIC’ HISTORY  xli

to Burke’s Reflections on the French Revolution, and A vindication of the rights of
woman, published in 1792. It seems likely that Martha read both works.

Wollstonecraft had written her Vindication of the rights of woman partly as a

response to Rousseau’s Emile. Martha encouraged William to read Wollstonecraft.

On 5 January 1793 she asked ‘Have you read Mrs Wollstonecraft? I suppose not, or

surely you would have mentioned her to me — you ought, even as a politician, and

she too conspires to make an important change. [ wish they would order her book

to be burned’. Martha realising that to order a book burned would immediately

increase its sales.” Such a comment implies that she admired and supported

Wollstonecraft’s ideas.

A review of A vindication of the rights of woman appeared in the Northern Star on
22 December 1792 and it was noted as a work that ‘... abounds with ingenious
observations. .. it affords a variety of judicious instruction for the early management
of the female mind, and frequently, and pertinently, corrects the assumptions of the
tyrant man’ . While the 1790s was a time when the rights of Irish men were con-
stantly being urged there was little apparent concern with the rights of women.
There were some Irish editions of Wollstonecraft's Vindication of the rights of woman
and it is referred to in particular by a contemporary of Marthas, Mary Ann
McCracken. Martha herself made no direct reference to the plight of women in
society and was not a vocal advocate of women’s rights. Wollstonecraft in her writ-
ing had placed women firmly within the arena of liberal political thought, an
achievement of which Martha would surely have approved.” Martha seems to have
been unacquainted with Mary Ann McCracken who also lived in Belfast and shared
Martha’s political interests and concerns. McCracken, however, was a generation
younger than her and also attended a different church. We have as yet little evidence
on the extent of discussion on women’s rights in Ireland in the 1790s but we have
some indication that McCracken was an advocate of women’s rights.

The late eighteenth century witnessed a revival of discussions on the place of
women in society and the rights that should be made available to them. Even within
the ranks of that liberal group the United Irishmen there is only slight evidence of
any concern with the rights of women. Thomas Russell was one of the few, if not
the only, United Irishman who gave some consideration to the place of women in
society. Or at least it appears so from the evidence of some jottings in his journal.
‘Should’, he pondered in 1793, ‘women be made learn[e]d? Is there a difference of
mind? Why not as of body? Has it ever occur[r]ed to anatomists to observe is there
any difference in the brains of men and women children [sic]? Women in public
offices as clever as men. ...”.”

Mary Ann McCracken gave the matter more serious consideration. In a letter

from March 1797 to her brother Henry Joy McCracken, imprisoned for his United

53 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 5 January 1793 (D/591/371); see also Sam McTier and Martha McTier
to William Drennan, 27 January 1793 (D/591/379), ‘Again I ask if you have read Mrs Wollstonecraft’.

54 The Northern Star, 22 December 1798.

55 See Virginia Shapiro, A vindication of political virtue: the political theory of Mary Wollstonecraft (Chicago, 1992).

56 Thomas Russell, Journals and memoirs of Thomas Russell ed. by C. ]. Woods (Dublin, 1991), p. 86.
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Irish activities, Mary Ann noted the existence of societies of United Irishwomen in
Belfast and argued for the rights of women. With regard to the United Irishwomen
she related that she had:

a great curiosity to visit some female societies in this town (though I should
like them better were they more promiscuous as there can be no other reason
for having them separate but keeping the women in the dark, and certainly

it is equally ungenerous or uncandid to make tools of without confiding in
them). I wish to know if they have any rational ideas of liberty and equality
for themselves or whether they are contented with their present abject and
dependent situation.

It is evident that her ideas directly echo those of Mary Wollstonecraft. Like
Wollstonecraft she recognised that women are subordinate to men in society and
that this subordination had come about through ‘custom’ or tradition and lack of
education. Similarly she argued that both men and women were created equal and
in a paraphrase of Wollstonecraft’s words she noted that ‘without equality of mind,
there can be no friendship and without friendship there can be no happiness in
society’. McCracken’s letter is the fullest articulation we have yet uncovered relating
to the rights of women in the late eighteenth century. She ended her letter by stating:

... is it not almost time for the clouds of error and prejudice to disperse and
that the female part of the creation as well as the male should throw off the
fetters with which they have been so long mentally bound and conscious of
their dignity and importance of their nature rise to the situation for which
they were designed ... I think the reign of prejudice is nearly at an end, and
that the truth and justice of our cause alone is sufficient to support it, as there
can be no argument produced in favour of the slavery of woman that has not

been used in favour of general slavery and which have been successfully com-
batted by able writers.”

While Martha was sympathetic to the views of Wollstonecraft she was not an advo-
cate of women’s rights in the same way that McCracken was. William was not
particularly interested in any demand for women’s rights, though he talked about
writing an address to them in 1796.” There appears to have been relatively little
sympathy either amongst the United Irishmen or more generally for rights being
extended to women. In the context of the demand of rights for Catholics the Rev.
William Bruce observed in 1792 that ‘if we follow without restriction, the theory of
human rights, where will it lead us? In its principle it requires the admission of
women, of persons under age, and of paupers, to suffrage at elections; to places of
office and trust, and as members of both Houses of Parliament.”

57 M. A. McCracken to Henry Joy McCracken in Kilmainham, 16 March 1797. Trinity College Dublin Ms
873, nos. 149, 151. The full text of the letter is available in Mary McNeill, The life and times of Mary Ann
McCracken 1770-1866: a Belfast panorama (Belfast, 1960), pp 125-8.

58 William Drennan to Martha McTier, [1796] (D/591/ 636); whether this address was to advocate women'’s
rights or not remains unknown.

59 From Belfast Politics, p. 19, quoted in John Gray, ‘Mary Anne McCracken: Belfast revolutionary and pioneer
of feminism’, in Daire Keogh and Nicholas Furlong (eds.), The women of 1798 (Dublin, 1998), p. 31.
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However valuable and enlightening and radical Wollstonecraft’s ideas were they
were quickly to lose their impact, and she her reputation, with the publication of
William Godwin's Memoirs of the author of a vndication of the rights of woman which
appeared in 1798. William alerted Martha to the existence of the Memoirs and
writing to her in March of that year he referred to it as a

book exciting, and in some measure gratifying, to male and female curiosity,
and were I not afraid of sending you what is generally called, and perhaps
truly, an immoral and licentious book, I should make Robert Orr the bearer
of it. The print of the lady prefixed is worth the four shillings, and if you
don’t like the work send it back to me. A most curious philosopher this
Godwin is in theory and practice.

William then continued to tell the story of Wollstonecraft’s life as related by Godwin.

He [Godwin] marries a woman of 34 or 38 years of age, whom he had kept
eight months as a mistress, who had been kept by another man still alive, and
who with a perversity of attachment had pursued that other man after the
most abominable insults, and had even, with heroic meanness, consented to
live in the same house with him and his other mistress, and being refused in
this gratification, had thrown herself into the Thames. Her letters which I
have not yet read and some posthumous works are annexed, but the price of
the whole is too high. It is said her letters are superior to Werter. I hear she
was not near so handsome as her portrait represents. She had been governess
in the Kingsborough family, but Miss King was then a very child.®® She was
a compound of caprice and constancy, and her example shows that the rights
of women are not to be exercised for some time, without the control of man

or God.”

William attempted to secure a copy of the Memoirs at a well known bookshop in
Dublin only to be informed by the proprietor that since two of Wollstonecraft’s
sisters resided in Dublin he could not sell the book.” William’s final comment was
to wonder at the effect of the Memoirs on Godwin’s followers. “You cannot imagine,
he observes to Martha, ‘how the church and state men rail against the author and
the [?book].”

Martha, while complaining to William that he had a very low opinion of women,
approved of Wollstonecraft’s ideas and seemed to understand the troubles that beset
her life. Neither did she admire Godwin for committing Wollstonecraft’s life to
print. She believed the book to be ‘a coarse, ill-written catchpenny, hurried up at

60 For more detail on the Kingsboroughs see William Drennan to Martha McTier, 21 March [17]98 (D/591/701).

61 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [October postmark] 1801 (D/591/944).
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the moment favourable for gaining money and contempt to its author’. Martha
admitted that Wollstonecraft’s Vindication of the rights of woman was very clever and
that while Wollstonecraft ‘had neither what is generally called much religion nor
moral precept, but nobly did she assert her sex’s independence’. Martha recognised
that Wollstonecraft had a difficult life and notes ‘what a miserable slave was she’.
Being a slave implies that one has no control over one’s fate. Martha was aware that
Wollstonecraft lived an emotional life that was very much at variance with the ideals
of rationality and virtue she espoused in her writings. Ultimately Martha felt that
Godwin’s book was beneath criticism and ‘sinks its author. Such a performance’,
she continued, ‘left to its own insignificance will do as little harm in the world, as
an association to be religious and not eat hot dinners will do good — both in my
opinion merit a smile of contempt’.*

Both Martha and William were also familiar with the work of Thomas Paine.
While Paine asserted the existence of universal human rights, Wollstonecraft, unlike
Paine, had explicitly applied the concept to women. Paine’s 7he rights of man was
particularly popular and the sales of Part 1 exceeded 40,000 in Ireland. It was an
extremely influential text in Irish radical circles, a fact noted by a number of Irish
historians.”” Martha observed to William, ‘I never liked kings and Paine has said of
them what I always suspected, truth seems to dart from him in such plain and poig-

>

nant terms, that he, or she who runs may read...’. © While Martha was a supporter
of some of Paine’s views she, like many readers, reacted badly to his book 7%e age of
reason which was published in 1795. It was his opinions on religion in particular

that alienated her. She asked of William in 1796

Have you read the second part of The age of reason? Paine is a smart, impu-
dent, imposing writer that ought not to be despised, but well answered in his
own style, for no other would be so well attended. The most of what he says
on the Bible were my thoughts in childhood, and I suppose might partly be
cleared up by riper years, and abler readers. But as for what he says on the
New [Testament], I think he could not stagger any rational Christian. He is
here indeed so very weak that he appears to hurry over his subject, rather as
a matter he was predetermined to laugh at than confute, and seems well
pleased to get rid of it. Who but a big ghost-ridden boy could ask such ques-
tions about the resurrection of the saints? Lazarus would in my opinion,
would have answered his purpose much better.”

The radical press was a primary influence on Martha. She noted to William in 1795
‘So much have I gained by newspapers and so ardently have I seen them sought for
and enjoyed by the lower orders that I intend for their good to institute a gratis news
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room with fire and candle, a scheme which you may laugh at, but, if followed in
country towns, might have a wonderful effect in your education plan’.” The radical
newspaper the Northern Star was common reading fare for Martha. The paper had
been established within three months of the founding of the United Irishmen and
published news, poetry, songs and prose satires. It was estimated that four thousand
two hundred copies of the paper were sold regularly.”

Newspapers were a source of information and opinion. Martha used the papers as
a source to relate political or current events to William. Thus while he was in

Edinburgh she could inform him of the progress, for example, of the American War.
* She also supplemented the information gathered in the newspapers with that
acquired from letters. In 1777, for instance, she could add to her newspaper facts for
William by noting, ‘there are also letters from Cork which say Washington and his
army are made prisoners, by having tried to make a diversion at Philadelphia at the
time of the attack on Mudd Island. Every day now is big with events which seem to
shock all parties here’.” The information gleaned from letters rounded out the whole
picture. Again in reference to the American war Martha was to write to William that
‘several of Burgoyne’s officers are come to Ireland and the letters from their sisters or
daughters are highly entertaining. Arnold’s bravery, Gates’s humanity and politeness
is much extolled, and as there were many women with the army it gave occasion
for both’."

Reading clubs became a feature of the literary landscape by the end of the 1780s
and both Martha and William supported such clubs believing that they would play
an essential role in educating the lower classes. The first Belfast reading society was
founded in 1788 and eventually became the Linen Hall Library. In a letter to William
in 1792 Martha noted that there were ‘... two reading societies who for three years
past have been collecting a number of the most valuable books not merely to look
at, among these are the encyclop[aedia] the parliamentary statutes etc’.”” It appears
that some of these reading clubs were open to women. Thomas Russell refers to a
club possibly formed in 1770 which had a collection ‘chiefly [of] history. Some few
of philosophy and politicks, and novels for the women’.”

Political pamphlets also formed a mainstay of Martha’s reading. She read and
commented on William’s pamphlets, suggesting alterations to style and content.
Writing to William at the close of 1794, for example, she declared that:

there is nothing I wish for more than seeing you in print, with your name to
a dignified publication which might in some degree justify your past con-
duct, declare manly, moderate principles, wipe away prejudices, convince the
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head and affect the heart. The public are now well prepared to receive any-
thing from your pen, your writing is, by all parties, said to be mor? correct
and elegant than any of the present day, and R. Maxwell, after reading your
description of Kirwan, told me it was worthy the pen of Dr Johnson. D? not
hurry this pamphlet — bring into it all the matter you can. Perhaps twill be
the last opportunity of doing it, in palatable terms, to a man in power, and I
suppose it is in such you would address L[ord] Flitwilliam], unless there are
reasons which I would not wish put your name to it and make it worthy to
bear it

The pamphlet alluded to was William's, 4 philosophical essay on the moral and pol'itz‘—
cal state of Ireland: in a letter to Lord Fitzwilliam, published in January 1795. Having
read it Martha observed to William,

I have read your pamphlet several times and find it, like every other of your
writings, improve the longer it is read, for there is a blaze, or a something,
which at first, though it does not obscure the sense, dazzles you, and pleases
without it yet there is always more than at first meets the eye and such abun-
dance of soul, that you at first do not look for the other. Indeed yours are the
only political writings I ever saw heart in, and they will ever have a great
power while they retain it. Your address to the People is not the happiest part
of your work, nor is it in a style as if you had thought it would be ever read
by m'ﬁ

Martha also encouraged William to defend his ideas. In February 1792 Dr. William
Bruce had publicly attacked the test or oath of the United Irishmen which had been
written by Drennan. Martha urged a response, later published in the Belfast News-
Lertter, and cautioned William, to ‘be very delicate if you can destroy his argument
with force of satire or how else you please, but attack it only — be delicate as the
man, even as to a friend. Let the feelings of one burst through it if propriety will
any way allow of such a thing — if not it will at least dictate to be less personal than
he has chose to appear’.” Martha also proudly defended William’s writings. Her
acquaintance, Lady Harriet Skeffington, asked Martha once if she had read a song
called ‘Erin’ ‘with which she was much struck and her sisters in raptures’. This was
in fact, a song written by William and published anonymously in a United Irish news-
paper, The Press, in October 1797. Another woman in the company responded that
two verses were ‘absolute nonsense’. Martha quickly rose to William’s defence stating
she knew the ‘author, and that though there might be allusion or metaphor perhaps
too obscure, or too much a poetical licence, yet I would venture to affirm he never
wrote two verses of nonsense in his life. Still her decided and bold assertion was
nonsense, absolute nonsense, and instanced “a long chain of silence” and called on
me for an explanation. I said I felt its beauty without any definition and suspected
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she was not up to it. Neither in truth was I, but being much nettled and more vexed
the song should go abroad without two of its verses’.” The poem is essentially a call
for unity amongst Irish men and, as one critic has noted, marked Drennan’s growing
disaffection with the United Irish movement.”

Martha also recognised the dangers of print. In 1794 she informed William of the
consequences of published matter. She noted that copies of Belfast Politics, ‘a book
now eagerly read’, had been acquired by the military and militia who ‘unacquainted
with the resolutions and people marked in 93, and hearing of this much talked of
publication that would so easily mark the inhabitants to them, have procured it, sit
with it in their hands, commenting and applying its paragraphs in the coffee house
and the hearing of the chief actors, in matters now dangerous to avow’.”

Martha’s reading informed her political beliefs and through the letters she
expressed opinions about the state of politics. Her views were also shaped by her
own background of liberal Presbyterianism, and her respect for the views of both
Sam and William. Martha was not politically ambitious for herself. In December
1799 she observed ‘T have often wished for a opportunity of venting my political
wishes, theories, or follies, and own I would rather hear yours’.™ Her political ambi-
tions found expression in her support for William and Sam. In the letters and
diaries of women in eighteenth century Ireland there is clear evidence of an intense
interest in, and knowledge of, political affairs. However, Irish women do not appear
to have published political tracts or pamphlets airing their views to any great extent.
Some few Irish women did find a way to vent their political opinions publicly
through the writing of verse, women such as Henrietta Battier, Mary O’Brien and
Mary Birkett for example.” It is unclear whether Martha ventured into print with
her views. The evidence is ambiguous.

William wrote in 1797 to warn her of rumours that were current about her
political involvement.

Mrs Orr who is a sort of hysterical politician has been just telling me with an
air of great importance, that several aristocrats here have been mentioning your
name as being a very busy woman in Belfast at present and that you should
take care of yourself as you were supposed to write for the Northern Star while
in existence etc., etc. There are so many lying stories gone and people wish
so much to be friendly in these warnings, that I thought it better to mention
it to you, as the lady who carries this and who sent me word that she was
ready to be the bearer of all sedition I should choose to send, was one of those
who seemed to apprehend some danger either to your house or yourself. *
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Martha, aware that her correspondence was being opened by the local [')c')st-l
master responded to William'’s lecter with an emphatic denial of any overt politica

involvement:

Strange that an obscure name, and female, could be noticed by strangers, or
out of her own circle — out of a small one, I never at any time of my life, or
on any subject, talked much; on those occasions [ am generally the most silent
woman in company. For this I make up in smaller parties — and not having
any principles or opinions I thought necessary to conceal, nor observing it
even proper to make any change in my ideas for [?] right and wrong, the
foundation of which I find for private life to be ‘doing justly, loving mercy,
and walking humbly before God’ — T have, as hitherto, reasoned from those
old fashioned maxims, and I dare say cast pearls to fools, who not under-
standing might misrepresent even unintentionally. Yet though mixing with
all parties, I never was told of one word I had said to offend any. I flacter
myself [ am not insignificant — enough however to be termed a neutral —
though I should shrink from being any way a marked woman. You may
therefore believe that except an advertisement for the Union School, and one
paper in its cause, out of three wrote by Lady H{[arriet], Mrs Bloisragon?] and
me [ never penned a single line for a newspaper in my life ... Let me here
however declare that I know of no society of United I[rish]women, that
I never heard it said there was one in the place, that I never even subscribed
as thousands did to the charity for relief of the prisoners, that private trans-
actions are my abhorrence, that I was never engaged in any act I should care
was known either to the public or secret committee, and that the chief wish
of my heart is to pass through my life without giving offence or (strange as
the wish appear it is now mine) of not receiving insult.”

This letter is difficult to interpret and may be intentionally misleading about Martha’s
real contribution to the Northern Star. In her following letter to William, Martha
admitted that she believed that the above letter would be opened, that she wrote it on
purpose and put it into the office the night before in order to give the post-master time
to read it." It would appear, from the correspondence, that she may have added
to or tidied up pieces written by William for the press, but that she did not author
articles herself. Whether she wrote for the papers or not Martha was certainly an
informed and intelligent political commentator. She seems to have been content to
act as William’s adviser, and was not interested in entering the public domain.
Martha was keenly aware of the impact of international events on the politics of
the country. She too was buoyed up by the optimism of radicalism and the hope
inspired by radical thinkers. She followed the work of the United Irishmen with
great interest through William’s and Sam’s involvement in that organisation, and she
was familiar with a number of the individuals who were central to thar group. In

83 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 16 June [19 June 1797 postmark] (D/591/666).
84 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [July postmark] 1797 (D/591/667A).



MARTHA MCTIER AND WILLIAM DRENNAN: A ‘DOMESTIC’ HISTORY

the eighteenth century the letter was a form of communication that was both
private and public. The fact that many letters were read to a wide circle of family,
friends and acquaintances and the information and opinions therein passed from
person to person meant that Marthas political opinions were well known and she
would have had a repuration as a political woman. She, like William, supported the
rights of Catholics. She abhorred violence and, also like William, wished for political
change to come about through peaceful means.

While originally supportive Martha soon lost her enthusiasm for the French revo-
lution and its excesses. ‘T am turned, quite turned , against the French, and fear that
it is all farther than ever from coming to good’.” By 1793 she has ‘given up every
thought about politics. The French affairs are now got beyond my comprehension. I
know not who is right or what is wrong but that their [neiglhbours have no business
with them and will certainly repent their interference. Ireland is sinking by a violence
of bad measure in such a hurry of absurdity and tyrannick acts that it’s probable the
violence of the distemper will throw itself off by one effort when least expected.
Government runs the risk, and the people see that nothing but arms is lefe.®

Martha supported the Volunteer Conventions and was anxious to hear news of

them first hand. Writing to William in 1783 she asked

I suppose you have engaged early accounts from W(ill] Bruce of the conven-
tion — I shall be obliged to you for them as soon as possible. I think this
country never met so awful, so glorious a day as this. It has been consigned
to the delegates by a people who has nobly given them the opportunity and
the power of commanding justice to be done their country, for it is in that
strain only they will be listened to, and in [sic] by that they will meet with
obedience. If they should in the least degree depart from the firm spirit which
has hitherto marked them and gained them the confidence of a people, they
will lose a moment glorious for themselves and for their country, perhaps
never more to return. Such are not frequent. The matter they have to delib-
erate on is great, and both good and great are divided in their opinions upon
it. I would be sorry however they would find it so vast as to determine upon
nothing, or but a few inferior points. Might it not be better in firm and
unanimous terms to demand one fundamental right, that the rest might
grow out of, or time and experience point out, and don’t you think annual
parliament would do this?”’

Martha also wrote immediately to William to inform him of the happenings of the
Dungannon Convention of February 1793, where Catholic emancipation was
endorsed and parliamentary reform sought.” Before that meeting Martha had written
to William to suggest a reprinting of his pamphlet Letters of Orellana in the
Northern Star. The Letters had been published originally in 1784 and sought to

85 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1792] (D/591/449).

86 Martha McTier to William Drennan, [1793] (D/591/446).

87 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1783 (D/591/116).

88 Samuel Neilson and Martha McTier to William Drennan, 17 February 1793 (D/591/390A).
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rekindle the zeal of the Volunteers for reform. Martha believed that the Lezzers would
influence the members of the Convention. ‘I am’, she wrote, ‘in the situa.tion of
numbers who have applied to me, I have not, nor can I get a copy. With me md'eed,
the sense and spirit remains, but at the time they appeared, their novelty chiefly
attracted and the time was not come (in my opinion) to give them their highesxg
relish. They indeed did serve the purpose then, and therefore might aid it now L

Martha, like other women of the period, also acted as a witness and recorder of
the political upheavals of the time. She wrote of the imposition of troops on house-
holds in Belfast in 1798 and declared that her ‘doors have been locked almost ever
since, and all packed up for flight if absolutely necessary’.”” On the outbreak of the
1803 Rising she wrote to Sarah

You know my determination not to write any political news, for one reason
I detest writing falsehoods — and it is long before the report of the day can be
credited. Women have certainly been taken up, lodged in the Prevot and bail
refused. One of these is a Miss Monroe, sister to the man who was hanged,
and others of the name of Shaw. It is said they are charged with high treason
and were discovered by means of the pretended French general, now believed
here a servant of Major Sirr’s. They are sent to Clarrick]fergus, at least Miss
M— on a common car. There is something too like France in this. The
gentlemen here begin to tire and complain much of the alarm kept up by
which trade is destroyed and they fatigued. A remonstrance on the subject
was sent from the Chamber of Commerce to General Campbell, but I believe
there was little if any redress.”

Martha opposed the Act of Union. Her views on the union and those who wished
it to pass were scathing. Writing to William in December 1799 she stated,

I know not whether with truth or error, but it appears to me that the meanest,
most wicked and detestable set of tame, interested, cold-hearted cowards ever
infested a country is the gentry of Ireland — publishing their names and
infamy, the half of them with no other view but to be on a list with a lord,
and what a wretched thing is an Irish lord. And does all conspire to forbid
hope? Does every effort only strengthen and prolong the degrading fetters?
Do the events in every other country all conspire against this, and are we not
to expect even the poor satisfaction of seeing the time when truth may be
brought to light while there may be an interest in its honest vindications? —
laughable as the sentence may appear — if this degrading union takes place
and all its cruel arbitrary consequences tamely suffered, if mind continues
thus put down, I will leave a country undeserving of any such as mine, the
moment duty and circumstances permit me. So let them look to it.”

89 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 5 January 1793 (D/591/371).

90 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 1798 (D/591/718).

91 Martha McTier to Sarah Drennan, 1803 (D/591/1057).

92 Martha McTier to William Drennan, 22 December 1799 (D/591/814).
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Martha never gave up her interest in politics, though at times her weariness with it
is evident. In 1801 at the implementation of the Act of Union she wrote:

[ abjure politics — the hope of my heart for thirty years is no more. I enjoyed
it through dangers, and its worst consequences. I foresaw and thought them
probable, yet still T clung to free and rising Ireland, to justice tempered with
mercy on her base-souled betrayers, to a vircuous triumph for her and liberty’s
defenders. All is, and will continue, more and more reversed — and mind will
sink into the dull equality of fashionable and educated insipidity or at best
the energies of the big merchant. These however appear rather flattened at
present — and most certainly in Belfast there did not appear a joyful face that
I saw, except those who I know trembled for personal safety.”

The letters of Martha and William provide us with a crucial link to the intellectual
world of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. They are a vital source
for the history of women of the period. They provide the best context for under-
standing women’s place in Irish society because they deal with so many concerns:
the political, the social, the economic and the intellectual. They also provide the
broadest framework for exploring relationships between men and women, men and
politics, and women and politics. Martha and William come alive through the pages
of their letters, we see and recognise their humanity.

Maria Luddy
Director, Women’s History Project

93 Martha McTi‘cr to William Drennan, [October postmark] 1801 (D/591/944).
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EDITORIAL NOTES

The Drennan-McTier correspondence was deposited in the Public Record Office
of Northern Ireland in 1928 by William Drennan’s granddaughter, Mrs Maria
Duffin. The deposit (D/591) comprises some 1,460 letters. Most are between
Drennan and Martha, but there is also some correspondence with their mother,
with Sam McTier and Sarah Drennan, and a few related letters from friends. Sam
McTier is known to have numbered William’s letters in the 1790s, and there are
signs that William looked over his letters in later years. However, the main work of
sorting the correspondence into one chronological sequence was undertaken by
his descendants, members of the Duffin family.

A selection from the letters, edited by Dr D. A. Chart, Deputy Keeper of the
Records of Northern Ireland, was published in 1931." Chart included lengthy extracts
from many letters, but many were paraphrased, and others of equal interest were
omitted. Almost half of the book is taken up by letters from just five years,
1791-95, and the whole contains a far higher proportion of letters from William
than from Martha. As the collection is a major source for the history of the United
Irish movement, this was a natural basis for the selection of the letters for publi-
cation, and this correspondence, published and unpublished, has been widely used
by Irish historians writing about politics in the 1780s-90s.

This new edition, in three volumes, contains a full transcript of all the letters from
the period 1776-1807, and virtually all those written afterwards, with the exception
of a few notes from Martha McTier to her nephews and several letters to William
Drennan about the affairs of the Belfast Academical Institution, which were bound
with the D/591 series, having been deposited at the same time. A number of
smaller deposits were also made by the Duffin family, but as these do not contain
any correspondence between William and Martha, none of this material has been
included in these volumes although it is referred to in the footnotes. The deposit
numbered T/965 is particularly valuable because it contains William’s own collection
of press-cuttings.’

For this new edition, the sequence of the letters has been revised. Virtually all
those written in the 1780s were undated. Using contemporary sources, particularly
newspapers, it has been possible to assign dates to many of these and they have been
. completely re-ordered. Most letters from 1790 onwards are either dated or have a
stamped postmark, initially with the day and month, but from about 1795 with the
year as well. Martha’s letters were generally postmarked on arrival in Dublin, so the
actual date of writing may have been between one and three days earlier, depending
on whether she was in Belfast or at Cabin Hill. The dating of William’s letters
sometimes poses problems because although his handwriting is normally clear, his

1 D. A. Chart, The Drennan letters (Belfast, 1931).

2 Derails of these collections will be given in the bibliography in volume three.
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numerals are highly idiosyncratic, his 1 and 2, 5 and 9, being more or less inter-
changeable, and his 3 is an invention all of his own. Moreover, when he writes both
the day of the week and the day of the month, these frequently disagree, and he
occasionally writes the wrong month, as is clear from the postmarks as well as the
content. Where the sequence of the letters as printed here appears to contradict the
date, an explanation has been given in a footnote. All letters are identified by their
original number in the D/591 series in the text, and a concordance of these
numbers and page numbers will be provided at the end of the third volume.

A typed transcript of the Drennan-McTier letters was made by members of the
Duffin family before their deposit. A new typescript containing some amendments
was then produced at the Public Record Office of Northern Ireland and used as the
basis for the publication of 1931.” These typescripts have been invaluable in the
present work of editing the letters, but the entire text of this new edition has been
checked against the originals. This has revealed that the condition of the letters
deteriorated slightly after their first transcription and some small pieces of text have
been lost, generally where the letters were sealed. The lamination and binding of the
whole series has prevented further decay although it sometimes makes it difficult to
read postmarks. However, in the process of lamination much of the dried paste
which held the sealing wafers has fallen off, revealing odd words which are not in
the typescripts.

The aim of this edition has been to produce a text which is both accurate and
readable. For accuracy, square brackets have been used to show where the original
document is damaged and words are missing. Where the missing word or words are
obvious they will appear within the brackets. In other cases the brackets simply
enclose a dash to indicate missing text. Occasionally a word has clearly been omitted;
these have been inserted in square brackets with a footnote ‘word supplied’. Few
words are actually illegible; where this is the case, this is indicated in a footnote.

To make the text more readable, standard eighteenth-century contractions like cd,
wd, tho, comp?, parlt, etc., have been expanded, but expansions of proper names
have been shown with square brackets, i.e. Lord C[harlemon]t. Names denoted by
initials have usually been given in full, i.e. Dr H{aliday], M[argaret] J[ones]. “Tis
and ‘twas’ have been left, but ‘etc.’ has been substituted for ‘&c’, and ‘and’ has
replaced a variety of squiggles. Standard eighteenth-century spellings such as chuse
and shew and favor have also been modernised. Martha’s spelling was sometimes
inaccurate in her early letters, and this has been corrected. By the 1790s, after some
teasing by William, it had improved markedly.

In the eighteenth century, the spelling of proper names was frequently inconsistent.
For example, the Drennans’ cousins are spelt Biggar and Bigger, the Hincks family
are also spelt Hyncks. To help the reader, the spelling of names has been standard-
ised as far as possible, and modern forms, such as Wilson rather than Willson,
McTier rather than M’Tier, have been preferred. Sam and Martha spelt their name

3 The Duffin typescripts have the PRONI reference T/765/1, and the PRONI typescripts have the reference
T/765/2.
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M’Tier, Sam’s brother preferred Mattear. William used both spellings when address-
ing his letters to Martha. In the edited text, McTier has been reserved for Martha,
Sam, and Sam’s daughter Margaret. All other members of Sam’s family have been
spelt Mattear, and other variant spellings (i.e. McTeir, Matteer, Matier, etc.) have
'been changed to one or other of these forms, according to context.

The letters are heavily punctuated with dashes and commas but there are few full
stops. Since this rapidly becomes tedious in printed text, the dashes between sentences
have been replaced with full stops. Dashes within sentences have been retained
where appropriate for emphasis but many have been replaced with commas.
However, the number of commas has been reduced overall as, by modern standards,
the letters are over-punctuated and many of the commas simply break up the text
and obscure the meaning. Occasionally there is a clause at the end of a sentence
which could equally well start the next sentence, frequently with a slight shift of
meaning. In such cases the original punctuation has been left alone. A few commas
have been inserted where this makes the sense clearer, punctuation having usually
been omitted when the writer reached the edge of the paper.

In the original text, apostrophes are used to show omissions, i.e. in destroyd,
praisd, etc., but not however in cant and wont. They have been inserted in the latter,
and the former have been expanded, except in verse, where it affects the metre. Plurals
such as address’s, society’s have been modernised as addresses, societies. Apostrophes
have been inserted to show the possessive case where this is unambiguous. Brackets
and inverted commas were used frequently but seldom in pairs, the closing one
often being missing. Where these are obvious they have been inserted, otherwise the
opening one has been removed. Underlining has been copied in the printed text.
However, William frequently underlined part of a word, sometimes a few letters only
in the middle. In general these have not been reproduced. Capital letters for
common nouns have been removed and the general use of capitals standardised.
Because postage was charged by the sheet, as much text as possible was packed on
to a single sheet, and new paragraphs are usually indicated by a long dash. Where
appropriate, long blocks of text have now been broken up into paragraphs.

Words have replaced numerals where the numbers are small, and where it makes
the meaning clearer; a standard format has been introduced for pounds, shillings and
pence, and the pound sign has been supplied where it was omitted. Question marks,
which were then little used, have been inserted. However, the aim throughout has
been to achieve a more readable text with as few changes as possible. Since the text
was produced by several individuals over a period of forty years, consistency would be
unnatural and has not been attempted. This has however posed problems in the
writing of footnotes, particularly in the spelling of names and the use of capital
letters. In general, modern or standard forms of surnames have been used in the foot-
notes. Readers are asked to adopt the tolerant attitude of the eighteenth century
towards inconsistency.

Over three thousand individuals are mentioned in the text of the letters, and the
majority have been identified. Wherever an identification has been made, brief
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biographical derails have been inserted, in a footnote, at the first mention of the
name, and each person has been indexed under their full name. These footnotes
have been repeated at the first reference to the person in subsequent volumes, and
each volume has been indexed separately. Given time (and a budget stretching into
the next millennium), it should have been possible to identify every person men-
tioned; as it is, the research has largely been confined to modern printed sources,
with occasional sorties into wills, church registers and the Registry of Deeds. In
addition to the footnotes about individuals, most published works mentioned in the
text have been identified, and notes have been added about events referred to in
many of the letters. The major sources for the latter have been the Belfast News-
Letter and the Northern Star. Again, given unlimited time (an essential requirement
when working on eighteenth-century newspapers) far more use could have been
made of such contemporary sources, and the published footnotes are the result of
the familiar compromise between ideal and realistic targets.

The main sources of information for biographical data in the footnotes are as
follows: The Dictionary of national biography, Burke’s Peerage and Landed gentry of
Ireland, the Complete peerage, the Belfast News-Letter for marriages and deaths, the
Encyclopaedia Britannica for foreign notables, clergy succession lists for Church of
Ireland clergy, the Fasti for Presbyterian clergy, King’s Inn admission papers for bar-
risters.” George Benn’s History of Belfast and George Chambers’s Faces of change are
the main sources of information about Belfast people, and the Blackwood pedigrees
at the Linen Hall Library contain details of many merchant and gentry families in
Ulster. Contemporary directories have been used to identify many Dublin residents
in the 1790s and 1800s, and R. B. McDowell’s article in [rish Historical Studies has
been used for notes on the United Irishmen in Dublin. Only the leaders of the
United Irishmen in Belfast have been named as such. It can be taken for granted
that most of the leading Presbyterians of Belfast were United Irishmen at some
stage. Apart from the Dictionary of national biography and the Blackwood pedigrees,
these sources have not generally been cited in footnotes, but references have been
given to all less obvious sources, both printed and manuscript.

Research on individuals in Belfast and Dublin has made it possible to identify
William’s boyhood friends, his fellow students, political associates and clients, and
Martha’s friends and enemies. The parts of Marthas letters which appear at first
sight to contain items of unrelated gossip about miscellaneous people, are now seen
to have a logical sequence, detailing news of related individuals. Above all, the
research has uncovered a whole inter-related network of friends, colleagues and
business associates, living both in Belfast and Dublin, which adds much to the
understanding of the letters and of the world in which the Drennans lived.

Jean Agnew

September 1998

4 A full bibliography will be published in the third volume.



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Blackwood  Blackwood pedigrees, Linen Hall Library, Belfast, (PRONI, MIC/315)
BNL  Belfast News-Letter
DNB  Dictionary of national biography, ed. Leslie Stephen and Sydney Lee
(66 vols, London, 1885-1901; reprinted with corrections, 22 vols,
London, 1908-09)
IFR  Burkes Irish family records (London, 1976)
LGI  Bernard Burke, Landed gentry of Ireland (London, 1912)
LHL Linen Hall Library, Belfast
PRONI  Public Record Office of Northern Ireland

)



10.

11.

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Frontispiece: Martha McTier c.1787, probably by Robert Home. (Reproduced
by permission of Mr Michael Duffin.)

. Martha McTier as a child. (Reproduced by permission of Mr Michael Duffin.)

. Mrs Ann Drennan, formerly Lennox (c.1719-1806), artist unknown.

(Photograph reproduced with the kind permission of the Trustees of the
National Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. Waddell Cunningham (c.1729-97), by Robert Home. (Photograph © Ulster

Museum, reproduced with the kind permission of the Trustees of the
National Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. The family of Thomas Bateson of Orangefield, by Strickland Lowry.

(Photograph © Ulster Museum, reproduced with the kind permission of the
Trustees of the National Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. The Rev. Dr William Bruce (1757-1841), by Joseph Wilson. (Photograph ©

Ulster Museum, reproduced with the kind permission of the Trustees of the
National Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. The first Earl of Charlemont (1728-99). (Photograph © Ulster Museum,

reproduced with the kind permission of the Trustees of the National
Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. The Belfast Assembly Room. (Photograph © Ulster Museum, reproduced

with the kind permission of the Trustees of the National Museums and
Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

. James Napper Tandy (1740-1803). (Photograph reproduced with the kind

permission of the Trustees of the National Museums and Galleries of
Northern Ireland.)

. The Rev. Thomas Drennan (1696-1768), artist unknown. (Photograph

reproduced with the kind permission of the Trustees of the National
Museums and Galleries of Northern Ireland.)

The Rotunda Gardens in 1790, from Walker's Hibernian Magazine, July

1790. (Photograph reproduced with the kind permission of the National
Library of Ireland.)

The Rev. Walter Blake Kirwan (1754-1805), preaching on behalf of the
Female Orphan House, Dublin, by Hugh Douglas Hamilton. (Reproduction
courtesy of the National Gallery of Ireland.)

xlii

42

80

114

192

222

302

394

434

522

528



1741
1742
1745
1754
1768
1769
1773
1773-78
1775
1778

1780
1782

1783

1784

1785

1786-89

CHRONOLOGY

Rev. Thomas Drennan marries Ann Lennox.

Birth of Martha Drennan.

Birth of Nancy Drennan.

Birth of William Drennan.

Death of Rev. Thomas Drennan

William Drennan begins his studies at the University of Glasgow.

Martha Drennan marries Sam McTier.

William studies medicine at the University of Edinburgh.

The American War of Independence begins.

Volunteer companies are formed to defend the country against threatened
invasion by the French, but rapidly become involved in politics and press for
parliamentary reform. William practices in Belfast and is involved in the
Volunteer movement.

Sam McTier visits Dublin in search of employment in the customs service.
The first Volunteer convention is held at Dungannon. The Irish parliament
becomes nominally independent of Westminster. William and Martha visit
Scotland to consult Dr William Cullen about Martha’s health. At the end of
the year, William settles in Newry.

Martha goes to take the waters at Bristol, accompanied by Nancy. In their
absence William falls seriously ill with a fever and is nursed by Sam. Sam acts
as an agent for Robert Stewart at the County Down election and William
writes election squibs in his support. The Volunteer national convention meets
in Dublin in November but parliament rejects their scheme for reform. The
McTiers old friend James Adair expects to be appointed Lord Chancellor of
Ireland by the Duke of Portland, and promises to find a lucrative position for
Sam. Their hopes are dashed however, by the fall of the Portland administration
in December.

William begins to prosper at Newry, largely through the patronage of the related
Pollock and Corry families. Sam and Martha rent Castle Hill in the summer
and live there until Christmas. William anonymously publishes the Letters of
an Irish helot in November and December in an effort to revitalise the now
declining Volunteer movement.

William goes to Dublin as one of Belfast’s representatives at the Volunteer con-
vention. The Helot letters are re-published as Letters of Orellana, an Irish helot, to
the seven northern counties. The Volunteer movement declines and the convention
is disappointing. The McTiers purchase a farm near Castle Hill and start to build
a ‘cabin’, or farmhouse. William proposes to Margaret Jones, but is rejected.
Propositions for commercial union with England are rejected by the Irish
parliament. Sam becomes Ballast Master to the Belfast Harbour Commission.
Martha and Sam live at Cabin Hill. Sam sets up in business as a notary public
and their financial position improves.
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The King becomes insane and a crisis ensues over the powers to be given to the
Prince of Wales.

William has now become financially successful but is bored and restless in
Newry. The French Revolution begins. Martha suffers from ill health and
becomes increasingly depressed. She stops writing to William. At her urging,
she and Sam move back to Belfast and Cabin Hill is sold. At the end of the
year, William moves to Dublin.

William takes lodgings in Dame Street and starts to build up a small practice.
Martha continues ill, and does not write, so William’s letters are addressed to
his mother and Sam McTier.

William becomes increasingly involved in politics. In May he writes a paper
about a ‘brotherhood’ to work for reform. Bastille Day is celebrated in Belfast,
Dublin and elsewhere. Societies of United Irishmen are formed in Belfast and
in Dublin. Martha’s illness continues, and-apart from a brief note in July she
does not write.

Dr William Bruce attacks the test or oath of the United Irishmen and this, and
William’s defence, are published in the Belfast News-Letter. A bill giving some
concessions to the Roman Catholics is passed. The United Irishmen continue
to support the Catholic claims for further emancipation, in particular for the
elective franchise. The Society is dragged by Napper Tandy into his quarrel with
John Toler, the Solicitor General. William writes United Irish propaganda and
John Pollock, an attorney and a government agent, attempts to buy him off.
In December William writes the Address ro the Volunteers. Martha gradually
recovers from her breakdown and by the end of the year she is writing detailed
accounts of events in Belfast.

The King of France is executed in January, and Britain goes to war with France
in February. The government undermines the Volunteers' Dungannon con-
vention by making further concessions to the Roman Catholics. Simon Butler
and Oliver Bond, chairman and secretary of the Dublin Society of United
Irishmen, are sent to prison for six months and fined for publishing resolutions
criticising a secret committee of the House of Lords. Dr James Reynolds, a
United Irishman from Co. Tyrone, is imprisoned for refusing to recognise the
committee’s authority to summon witnesses. In April, Martha spends a month
in Dublin. The government passes measures intended to put down the United
Irishmen and to disarm the Volunteers in the north, and the troops quartered
at Belfast act in a repressive and violent manner. In September, William
announces abruptly that he is engaged to Sarah Swanwick, a young
Englishwoman, and this news meets with a cool reception in Belfast. He is by
now disenchanted with politics and fears that his notoriety will prevent him
from building up a profitable practice in Dublin. Depressed by his poor
prospects, he releases Sarah from their engagement.



1776-1782

1 19 January [1776]
MRS MARTHA MCcTIER, BELFAST, TO WILLIAM DRENNAN, [EDINBURGH] [1A]'

My dearest Will, Your New Year's gift was very agreeable and like the children’s feast
the last of it was best. I do not mean the direction of your letter, for as that was to
Mrs McTier, High Street, I got it but at second hand, and though the first pages con-
tained much to interest and sentiments to please me, yet my eye glanced quickly over
them in pursuit of some account of the notes which had been sent you. I got it, and
therefore will not scold you. Sam® does not care to risk any more in that way, but next
week he will send you an English bill for twenty pounds, out of which you are to give
Nancy’ what she chooses. But to return to your letter, you are determined to cure
me of my prejudice in favour of the Scots. One prepossession will conquer another,
and [ shall be apt to set but a slight value on the good sense and discernment which
cannot but see the worth of my brother and yet from a national narrowness deny him
its reward. Let not any disappointment in regard to a tuition mortify you. Its being
of any material service is very unlikely but as your present situation might make even
a trifle convenient, I would not decline it, though to obtain it, I would not let any
Scotchman think he had favoured you.

As for McC* - he is a dirty blackguard — a poor time-server — such a letter as
Crombie’ received from him a few posts ago never could come from a man possessed
of one liberal sentiment. Politics and religion were the subjects he blasphemed, and
prattled of a hair-brained doctor and a pack of linen drapers, to know the true value
of whom it is unnecessary to set himself up as a foil. Crombie gave a proof of his
contempt for the writer by shewing the epistle, and indeed did not compliment
himself. It has effected that dislike which was begun last summer on hearing things
said in jest which now appear to be real opinions, and could not be given as
such but by a man hackneyed in servility. I wish I never advised Nancy to go to
P[reston]pans. It was in hope of entertainment which I cannot hear of her obtain-
ing, but all this as secret as the grave — when we meet in my little cabin the truth will
all come out, perhaps in more agreeable hours, to me they must be so, my sisterly
affections have not been impaired by matrimony, they have not got the usual trial,’
though my faith in them is so great I would like to see them tried, but there is
little wisdom in this wish and I must not give it harbour. Have you and Nancy no
intercourse? You ask me why I do not write to you. The long letters I have sent to
her were equally wrote to you.

1 The numbers following the address are those given to the letters by the Public Record Office of Northern
Ireland as part of the series D/591; for example, this letter is numbered D/591/1A.

Sam McTier (c.1738-95), her husband.

Nancy Drennan (c.1745-1825), their sister.

Rev. Dr Joseph McCormick (1733-99), minister at Prestonpans, a few miles east of Edinburgh (DNB).

Rev. Dr James Crombie (1730-90), minister of the First Presbyterian Church, Belfast (DNNB), brother-in-law of
McCormick.

6 i.e. by her having children.
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Politics is a subject you would wish to hear of from a corner where they are treated
with manly freedom, but I am not well qualified to write on this subject, and know
not what would be new or old to you. A piece of private information I can give you
for true, that in a letter from young Dun’ who is now in France, he gives a very
alarming account of the preparations there, and has not a doubt of their being
designed against these kingdoms. Lord Camden® writes to his son-in-law” an
account of Lord Chatham " that would draw tears from you. He observes his plan
of accommodation with America was his last effort to save his sinking country, and
speaks of his situation being so deplorable that there is no doubt but he has lost his
judgment. To descend a little — the candidates for our county have begun to can-
vass, at least the two worthy ones for whom the lords have declared. This was done
by Mr Portis" taking Mr Skeffington' to the door of each freeholder. They sat in
the chaise and allowed the gentlemen they spoke to, to stand in the street listening
to Mr Portis requesting the honour of their votes for Henry Seymour Conway " and
the gentleman present, who bowed with the grin which always marks their family
understanding, but to speak never ventured. Sam’s answer was a declaration of not
giving a promise until the day of election. It was then requested he would not
promise to vote against Mr Skeffington, to which he assented. ,

As you seem to be in a humour to be pleased with anything from Belfast, I'll
enclose you an old newspaper, it contain[s] our petition and Wilson’s" addresses to
the public. I cannot think you have yet seen the former or you must have thought
it worth a remark, but if you have, treat it with more decency than McCormick says
the King did. Ballymena' and another dissenting congregation have in the news-
paper declared their approbation of Wilson’s conduct and determination to support
him, and there is some thoughts of establishing a club in Belfast for that purpose. I
think I now see your smile of contempt, but consider, he is the best thart offers, and
that it is agreeable to support that interest on which he rests his claim against a con-
junction of Hertford, Antrim and Donegall," the latter indeed it’s suspected is not
much interested in the matter. Wilson has not made one application and it’s
thought this has been a loss to him. Next to seeing Nancy happily fixed in life, there
is nothing would please me beyond your being in parliament. No riches, no title
would in my estimation be set up in competition to it, because I am certain it would

7 Probably John Dunn (c.1752-1827), son of the Rev. William Dunn of Dublin, fellow student of Drennan at
Glasgow, later a barrister and MP for Randalstown, 1783-97.

8 st Earl Camden (1714-94), Lord Chancellor in Chatham’s administration, 1766-70 (DNB).

9 Robert Stewart (1739-1821), later 1st Marquis of Londonderry, MP for Co. Down, 1769-83 (DNB).

10 1st Earl of Chatham (1708-78), statesman (DNB).

11 George Portis, collector for the port of Belfast and agent to Lord Donegall.

12 Probably Henry Skeffingron (c.1744-1811), MP for Belfast, 1768-97, later 3rd Earl of Massereene.

13 General, later Field Marshall, Henry Seymour Conway (1721-95), who was MP for Co. Antrim in 1741,
and an English MD, 1741-84 (DNB).

14 James Willson or Wilson of Purdysburn, Co. Down, MP for Co. Antrim, 1776-83, married Sophia,
daughter of Rev. Skeffington Bristow; Wilson agreed to work for parliamentary reform and was supported in
his campaign by the General Synod of the Presbyterian church.

15 Ballymena, Co. Antrim.

16 6th Earl, later Marquis of Antrim, 1st Marquis of Hertford, and 5th Earl of Donegall, the major landowners
of Co. Antrim.
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tend to your real honour, and on that one account I have sometimes wished the law
had been your study as the line that might at least give a chance for such a thing
coming about, but physic you seem now to have seriously determined upon; if
50, be steady in it, and to that method which after much consideration appears the
wisest to pursue it. I can say little on the subject, but by frequently thinking of you,
and your future appearance in life, random thoughts sometimes occur, which per-
haps might give a hint that might prove important, such as the following, which is
to your ear alone. I have heard it alleged that Dr Mattear"” was tired of that branch
of his business which he has mostly followed, and imagined it would be more for
his interest to quit it entirely. Was he really to do this, the fortune of any man who
would set up with his recommendation must be made; but the truth of such a point
would be hard to gain as many men will talk in this way of a profitable business they
would grieve to give up and the friends are yet apter to enjoy this bit of vanity. But
may not this suggest a hint of forming your studies in the same manner he did, to
follow either branch that might turn out most advantageous, or both. I am sure
Belfast is the place you would choose to settle in, and by adapting the above plan
you would have a double chance — how far it is an eligible one you may determine.

Haliday ™ is mighty happy in his young wife, goes to meeting twice every Sunday
and never stays out later than twelve o'clock. She is affable and unaffected, but no
way striking either in looks or behaviour. I dined with them at Portis’s the assembly
day, with a party of twenty Blackwoods, Kennedys, etc. We went all in state to the
assembly and there the Doctor eyed his bride with great appearance of triumph.
The gentleman he sat beside had his attention taken up by a much finer object, viz.
Miss Brice,” who was dancing at the same time. The Doctor starting out of his
reverie clapped his hand on his friend’s shoulder and swore by his soul he thought
her a fine woman, to which the other assented with equal warmth but hearing the
Doctor remark how happy he was in having got her, dropped the subject while he
was safe. Old Agnew® of Kilwaughter is dead and has made a remarkable will, but
a very just one. His estate of £2,000 a year goes equally among all his relatives for
eleven years, that is until Val Joness* son is of age, when he changes his name to
Agnew, takes possession of it clear of all encumbrances and twelve hundred pound
in cash. The two young Agnews that you may remember in Belfast get £320 a year
each until that time, and if Jones dies before he is of age the estate remains mostly
as it is at present divided. The females of his family he has not been so liberal to;
Margaret Jones gets £3,000 thousand added to four she now has; but failing her
brother the estate goes neither to her nor her heirs.

17 Dr John Mattear (c.1726-1806), her brother-in-law.

18 Dr Alexander Henry Haliday (1728-1802), physician, whig, a leading citizen of Belfast (DINB); he married
Anne Edmonstone, as his second wife, in 1775.

19 Probably Prudence, daughter of Edward Brice of Kilroot, Co. Antrim, who married George Bateson of
London in 1779.

20 . William Agnew of Kilwaughter, Co. Antrim, for his will see LPC/1036 (PRONI).

21 Valentine Jones, merchant of Belfast (c.1711-1805), who married Agnew’s daughter as his second wife; his
children by this marriage were Edward Jones Agnew (d.1835), of Kilwaughter, MP for Co. Antrim, and
Margaret Jones, to whom Drennan proposed marriage in 1785 (LHL, Blackwood 46).
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You bid me mention the ladies — by which I presume there is one you hope will
not escape me. If I knew who it was be assured T would be as particular as pos-
sible, and whenever you have occasion for a confidant if you will honour me so far
I am certain you would have no cause to repent it. I'll call to my mind all my own
youthful pleasings [sic] follies, and almost feel yours, yet let me not promise too
much, were you to form a connection I thought any way unworthy of you, or even
with a female of mediocrity, I fear [ would not be satisfied. You hint at a secret
which I don’t believe you are possessed of, but your pretence to it prevented my
showing my mother your letter, for trifles light as air are to her in these matters
sufficient to torment her. Of Mrs Makenzie I know nothing. Grace Wallace” is
in a melancholy situation at the beck of her poor mother who has been dying by
inches these two months. She is now reduced to the extremest state of decay that
is possible — yet still breathes and has not done more this some weeks. No girl is
mentioned but Miss Brice who is every day more and more admired. Molly
Wilson® is thought to be in a consumption and ordered to Bristol in spring.

There are two reasons which ought to sway Nancy in her return home. One is, my
mother having formed a most intimate connection with Hamilton the player who
lodges just opposite to her, a few nights ago she bespoke Jane Shore* and the citi-
zen took and disposed of tickets by the dozen. The house was crowded and Lord
and Lady Antrim * happening to come that night, all passed with the players for my
mother’s great interest and both Hug[h]* and Andrew have got the farce ever since,
they are however in great disgrace at home. Our Lamela” got drunk the day we had
the Halidays, and as it was once more with his master’s rum he got warning the
next day and is hired with T. Saunders.” Mr Smith® and Hugh had been too cor-
dial on Monday night, which occasioned the smash of the lanthorn and some other
dire disasters which ended in warning. The storm is not yet over but has I think
subsided into a little growling.

This is the consequence of your bidding me write everything. Are you not
ashamed to receive such stuff? Burn it quickly I beseech you. I have not a frank for
you so must direct to Nancy. My other reason for wishing her return is that Miss
Nelly Stewart™ of Donegall Street will quite put her nose out [in] Mr Portis’s.

Write soon, my dear Will. You [hav]e b[een] very lazy and Nancy depends upon
you for she never gives me a line now. I will not allow your want of franks to be an
excuse so don't offer it. I am glad to find you speak warmly of your old friend

22 Grace Whallace (b.1759), later Joy, daughter of Joseph Wallace (d.1786), JP for Counties Antrim and Down;
her mother, who was a Gordon of Delamont, Co. Down, died in March 1776.

23 Probably Mary Wilson of Purdysburn who died in 1776.

24 Jane Shore, a tragedy by Nicholas Rowe (1674-1718).

25 Lettia, Marchioness of Antrim (d.1801).

26 Hugh Patten, Mrs Drennan’s servant.

27 A rascally servant in Alain René Le Sage’s, Gil Blas (1715, 1724, 1735), a comic novel translated into English
by Tobias Smollett.

28 Probably Thomas Saunders of Belfast who married the eldest daughter of Dr William Seed in the followiﬂg
~May.

29 Brice Smith and his wife were neighbours and close friends of the Drennans.
30 Daughter of Caprain William Stewart, and sister of Drennan’s friend, Counsellor Alexander Stewart.
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Stewart,” treat him well. You never mentioned a lad that Mackay* recommended
to you. His mother has a house in Edinburgh, are you ever there? When you bought
your clothes you ought to have summer into consideration and crimson will not
look well the[n]. MM

2 Friday, 16 March 1776

WILLIAM DRENNAN [EDINBURGH], TO MRS [ANN] DRENNAN,” DONEGALL STREET,
BELFAST [1]

Dear Mother, You receive this from a man who told me he had seen you before he
left Belfast, and as he is returning I send you a few lines along with him. I have not
often received more pleasure than I had from Sam’s letter. It was indeed unexpected
and I had gone so far in the affair as to agree with Mr Hill™ to accept of Mr
Sandilands as a pupil the beginning of the summer, but as he had not mentioned it
to Lady Torphichen” I got off with a candid acknowledgement of the reasons which
had influenced me to change my former resolution, and an apology for troubling
him before I had intimated the matter to my friends. I am happy in being freed
from this engagement. Mr Stewart™ had all along considered it as much too trifling
for me to accept and he has given me hopes that he will have it in his power either
before or at the time when I have finished my medical studies to make me an offer
much more advantageous, and which may probably afford me an opportunity
of visiting the Continent. I am bent therefore on seeing Ireland at the end of this
session, and I thank heaven that is now approaching — never was there a person who
loved Ireland and hated Scotland more than I do — and this love and hatred seem
both to increase every hour that I live. I believe Nancy will travel with me. The
gentleman who desired to accompany does not go till the lat[ter] end of April and
about that time I shall be ready myself. The Prestonpans family is at present in dis-
tress — old Mrs McCormick was taken ill about a week ago and has been so low ever
since that it is not thought she can last out long. It must be disagreeable to Nancy
who I believe longs for home as much as I do. She says she has gone nine long
months and I cannot persuade her that less would be indecent in a lady. I hope you
have had as little want of money the last winter as I. My expenses have been as great
as usual but Sam has taken care that my pocket should never be empty. I am not
certain whether I have received the worth of my money but I hope you have not
utterly thrown it away on me. I have never been free from complaints this winter —
indeed the most of them have been imaginary and my chief real one at present is a

31 Probably Dugald Stewart (1753-1828), philosopher, fellow student of Drennan’s at Glasgow; during his
father’s illness he discharged his duties as Professor of Mathematics at Edinburgh (DNB).

32 Rev. James Mackay (d.1781), Presbyterian minister at Belfast.

33 Mrs Ann Drennan (1719-1806), his mother.

34 Probably George Hill, see below p.8.

35 Elizabeth Sandilands, widow of the 8th Baron Torpichen.

36 Probably Dugald Stewart.
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desire for home. If you meet with James Kennedy” at any time, you may tell him I
take it very much amiss that he never gave me a line in answer to a long letter 1
wrote to him.

I wrote to Matty before and am expecting as long and entertaining a letter as I last
received from her. My compliments to Mrs Smith, Mr Smith and all friends. I am
dear mother, yours etc., WILLIAM DRENNAN

[ have not given the bearer anything.

3 1 April (1776
MARTHA MCTIER, BELFAST, TO WILLIAM DRENNAN, [EDINBURGH] [2]

My dearest Will, Your letter to my mother by a private hand was above a fortnight
on its travels which will account for the displeasure I expressed in my last. I was very
anxious to hear how you had determined in regard to the young gentleman, and the
more 50, as | thought myself to blame in advising you so warmly to what was likely
to turn out an error. | am happy to find myself freed from this reproach and in the
prospect of so soon meeting my beloved friends. The convenience, however, of your
being able to lessen your expenses would certainly have been very eligible even in a
trifle, which I hope you fortunately miss for something more material. Let nothing
therefore be wanting on your part to forward any scheme which may make the
remainder of your education easier to my mother and not improper for you.

A bad headache and a touch of the vapours determined my mother lately to make
her will, a step certainly very proper for her to take. J. Galt Smith* was the person
she consulted, and by her desire he spoke to Sam and me as she said she wished for
all our approbation. Of the £200 in Sam’s hand but one” remains, which added to

burdens fo[ ] Nancy, as [ have go ]
with one to mak| ]-pans divided [ ] be
sold, and go arr| .J as I found my[ ]
subject to her [ ] was a little against you I will tell you it. I can-

not help thinking it impossible for Nancy ever to live independent in the station she
is in under £1,000 pound and to pay for diet and lodging (which she ought to have
in her power) and to keep up a tolerable appearance, even upon that would require
good management. What the salt pans® may be is uncertain, but with her share of
that, and even half of the furniture, I fear it will not be the £1,000. As it has been
your education which occasions this, would it not be hard she should be the sufferer
and the one of the family on whom least has ever been expended? I therefore gave
it as my opinion that you ought not to come in for any share of the chattels, with-
out it was with a view of immediately giving you some ready money which you

37 James Trail Kennedy (1751-1832), a boyhood friend of Drennan’s, son of the Rev. Gilbert Kennedy, minister
of the Second Presbyterian Church of Belfast; Kennedy became a prosperous wine and spirit merchant,
investing in glassmaking and brewing.

38 John Galt Smith (1731-1802), a leading Belfast merchant.

39 i.e. £100.

40 The location of these salt pans is unknown.
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